α_s and the τ hadronic width: fixed-order, contourimproved and higher-order perturbation theory

Martin Beneke

Institut für Theoretische Physik E, RWTH Aachen University, D-52056 Aachen, Germany

Matthias Jamin

Institució Catalana de Recerca i Estudis Avançats (ICREA), IFAE, Theoretical Physics Group, UAB, E-08193 Bellaterra, Barcelona, Spain E-mail: jamin@ifae.es

ABSTRACT: The determination of α_s from hadronic τ decays is revisited, with a special emphasis on the question of higher-order perturbative corrections and different possibilities of resumming the perturbative series with the renormalisation group: fixed-order (FOPT) vs. contour-improved perturbation theory (CIPT). The difference between these approaches has evolved into a systematic effect that does not go away as higher orders in the perturbative expansion are added. We attempt to clarify under which circumstances one or the other approach provides a better approximation to the true result. To this end, we propose to describe the Adler function series by a model that includes the exactly known coefficients and theoretical constraints on the large-order behaviour originating from the operator product expansion and the renormalisation group. Within this framework we find that while CIPT is unable to account for the fully resummed series, FOPT smoothly approaches the Borel sum, before the expected divergent behaviour sets in at even higher orders. Employing FOPT up to the fifth order to determine α_s in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme, we obtain $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.320^{+0.012}_{-0.007}$, corresponding to $\alpha_s(M_Z) = 0.1185^{+0.0014}_{-0.0009}$. Improving this result by including yet higher orders from our model yields $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.316 \pm 0.006$, which after evolution leads to $\alpha_s(M_Z) = 0.1180 \pm 0.0008$. Our results are lower than previous values obtained from τ decays.

KEYWORDS: QCD, hadronic τ decays, perturbative series, renormalisation group.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Theoretical framework	3
3.	Renormalisation group summation	6
4.	Higher orders: toy models	9
	4.1 Truncated Adler function	10
	4.2 The "large- β_0 " approximation	11
	4.3 Single pole models	15
	4.4 Resumé	17
5.	Renormalon poles at four loops	18
6.	A physical model for the Adler function series	20
7.	Determination of α_s	26
	7.1 Estimate of power corrections	26
	7.2 α_s analysis	29
8.	Conclusions	31
Ap	opendix A: Borel integral for renormalon poles	34
Ap	ppendix B: Adler function in the complex s -plane	36

1. Introduction

Precision determinations of fundamental parameters within the Standard Model are of utmost importance in order to test its internal consistency or point towards physics which goes beyond it. In this respect the central parameter of the strong interaction sector is the strong coupling α_s , and until now tremendous efforts have been put into an ever better determination of α_s [1, 2].

One of the most precise determinations of α_s , competitive with the current world average, is provided by detailed investigations of the τ hadronic width

$$R_{\tau} \equiv \frac{\Gamma[\tau^- \to \text{hadrons}\,\nu_{\tau}(\gamma)]}{\Gamma[\tau^- \to e^- \overline{\nu}_e \nu_{\tau}(\gamma)]} = 3.640 \pm 0.010\,, \tag{1.1}$$

as well as invariant mass distributions [3, 4, 5, 6, 7]. The recent analyses of the ALEPH spectral function data [7, 8, 9] on the basis of the final full LEP data set yielded $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.344 \pm 0.005_{\rm exp} \pm 0.007_{\rm th}$ which after evolution to the Z-boson mass scale results in $\alpha_s(M_Z) = 0.1212 \pm 0.0011$. The dominant quantifiable theory uncertainty resides in the contribution of as yet uncalculated higher-order perturbative QCD corrections and improvements of the perturbative series through renormalisation group methods.

Of particular interest for the α_s determination is the τ decay rate into light u and d quarks, $R_{\tau,V/A}$, which proceeds either through a vector or an axialvector current, since in this case power corrections are especially suppressed. Theoretically, $R_{\tau,V/A}$ can be expressed in the form [3, 10, 11, 12]

$$R_{\tau,V/A} = \frac{N_c}{2} S_{\rm EW} |V_{ud}|^2 \left[1 + \delta^{(0)} + \delta'_{\rm EW} + \sum_{D \ge 2} \delta^{(D)}_{ud,V/A} \right].$$
(1.2)

Here, $S_{\rm EW} = 1.0198 \pm 0.0006$ [13] and $\delta'_{\rm EW} = 0.0010 \pm 0.0010$ [14] are electroweak corrections, $\delta^{(0)}$ comprises the perturbative QCD correction which will be our main interest in this work, and the $\delta^{(D)}_{ud,V/A}$ denote quark mass and higher *D*-dimensional operator corrections which arise in the framework of the operator product expansion (OPE). The higher-order OPE contributions are small and will only be considered towards the end of our work, when we present our determination of α_s .

A particular problem emerges from the observation that different ways of performing the renormalisation group resummation, namely fixed-order (FOPT) or contour-improved perturbation theory (CIPT) [15, 16], apparently lead to differing results. This is especially noteworthy as historically the values of α_s extracted from τ decays employing CIPT have always been on the high side of the world averages, and with the recent update $\alpha_s(M_Z) =$ 0.1185 ± 0.0010 [2] of the latter, this disparity is becoming significant.

CIPT is conventionally the method of choice, since the expansion of the running coupling $\alpha_s(\sqrt{s})$ in $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$ used in FOPT within a certain contour integral (see section 3) is near its radius of convergence and thus argued to lead to a poorly behaved fixed-order series. This argument, however, is not entirely compelling, since QCD perturbation series have zero radius of convergence anyway, and are asymptotic at best, no matter whether CIPT or FOPT is used. Indeed, in the large- β_0 approximation, which may be viewed as a toy model for the entire perturbation series, FOPT was identified to provide the better approximation to the full result [17]. With the recent calculation of the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^4)$ term in the series expansion of the Adler function [18], the discrepancy between FOPT and CIPT appears to be the largest systematic theoretical uncertainty of the α_s determination, as it is evident that it does not go away by adding the presently known higher-order terms.

The following study is motivated by the need to resolve this discrepancy and to understand its origin. Previous investigations [17, 19] show that a preference for CIPT or FOPT may strongly depend on the assumptions made on higher-order terms in the perturbation expansion. Thus, in section 4, we study several toy models in order to address, for each model, the following questions:

i) Are FO and CI perturbation theory seen to be compatible, once terms beyond the currently known coefficients of the perturbative series for $\delta^{(0)}$ are included?

- ii) How do FO and CI perturbation theory at a particular order compare to the true result for $\delta^{(0)}$, and is the closest approach to the true result related to the minimal terms in the respective series?
- iii) And finally, which of the two methods, FOPT or CIPT provides the closer approach to the true value at order $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^4)$, and in general?

Here our working assumption is that the true result is approximated with reasonable accuracy by the Borel sum of the model series, since the power corrections to R_{τ} are known to be small.

The lessons learnt from the toy models lead us to proposing an ansatz for the Adler function series, more precisely its Borel transform, which incorporates the presently available terms in the perturbative expansion, as well as known features of renormalon singularities [20] determined solely by the operator product expansion and the renormalisation group. This ansatz is described and analysed in detail in section 6. While in the toy models discussed in section 4, one may obtain compatible descriptions of the perturbative series by FOPT or CIPT, or a preference for one of the two prescriptions, we find that the features favouring FOPT prevail in our ansatz for the physical case. For the physical model, CIPT never comes close to the result for the Borel sum. On the other hand, FOPT approaches this sum in a smooth fashion until its minimal term, after which the expected asymptotic (divergent) behaviour sets in.

We believe that these features are characteristic to R_{τ} and therefore argue that FOPT provides the better approximation to the perturbative series for $\delta^{(0)}$, both at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^4)$ and in general. Based on this observation we proceed to determine the strong coupling α_s in section 7 in two ways: first, employing FOPT and an estimate of the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^5)$ term suggested by several independent arguments; second, employing our ansatz for the entire series as discussed in section 6. Both approaches lead to values of $\alpha_s(M_Z)$ systematically lower than previous determinations from hadronic τ decays employing CIPT.

2. Theoretical framework

We briefly review the main theoretical expressions required in the analysis of the inclusive hadronic τ decay width. Further details and complete expressions can be found in the original works [3, 21, 22]. The central quantities in such an analysis are the two-point correlation functions

$$\Pi_{\mu\nu,ij}^{V/A}(p) \equiv i \int dx \, e^{ipx} \, \langle \Omega | \, T\{J_{\mu,ij}^{V/A}(x) \, J_{\nu,ij}^{V/A}(0)^{\dagger}\} | \Omega \rangle \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where $|\Omega\rangle$ denotes the physical vacuum and the hadronic vector/axialvector currents are given by $J_{\mu,ij}^{V/A}(x) = [\bar{q}_j \gamma_{\mu}(\gamma_5) q_i](x)$. The indices i, j stand for the light quark flavours up, down and strange. The correlators $\Pi_{\mu\nu,ij}^{V/A}(p)$ have the Lorentz decomposition

$$\Pi_{\mu\nu,ij}^{V/A}(p) = (p_{\mu}p_{\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}p^2) \Pi_{ij}^{V/A,(1)}(p^2) + p_{\mu}p_{\nu} \Pi_{ij}^{V/A,(0)}(p^2), \qquad (2.2)$$

where the superscripts denote the components corresponding to angular momentum J = 1 (transversal) and J = 0 (longitudinal) in the hadronic rest frame.

Experimentally, the hadronic decay rate of the τ lepton can be separated into the contributions of vector $R_{\tau,V}$ and axialvector $R_{\tau,A}$ components for the $(\bar{u}d)$ -quark current as well as the contribution with net-strangeness $R_{\tau,S}$, resulting from the $(\bar{u}s)$ -quark current,

$$R_{\tau} = R_{\tau,V} + R_{\tau,A} + R_{\tau,S} \,. \tag{2.3}$$

In the Cabibbo-suppressed ($\bar{u}s$) sector, a separation of vector from axialvector contributions is problematic, since *G*-parity is not a good quantum number in modes with strange particles.¹ On the theory side, R_{τ} can be expressed as an integral of the spectral functions Im $\Pi^{(1)}(s)$ and Im $\Pi^{(0)}(s)$ over the invariant mass $s = p^2$ of the final state hadrons [23]:

$$R_{\tau} = 12\pi \int_{0}^{M_{\tau}^{2}} \frac{ds}{M_{\tau}^{2}} \left(1 - \frac{s}{M_{\tau}^{2}}\right)^{2} \left[\left(1 + 2\frac{s}{M_{\tau}^{2}}\right) \operatorname{Im} \Pi^{(1)}(s) + \operatorname{Im} \Pi^{(0)}(s) \right].$$
(2.4)

For simplicity, in the following, we shall omit the EW correction factor $S_{\rm EW}$, but it will of course be included in our final numerical analysis for α_s . The appropriate combinations of the two-point correlation functions resulting from the weak decay through the W-boson are given by

$$\Pi^{(J)}(s) \equiv |V_{ud}|^2 \Big[\Pi^{V,(J)}_{ud}(s) + \Pi^{A,(J)}_{ud}(s) \Big] + |V_{us}|^2 \Big[\Pi^{V,(J)}_{us}(s) + \Pi^{A,(J)}_{us}(s) \Big],$$
(2.5)

with V_{ij} being the corresponding elements of the Cabibbo-Kobayashi-Maskawa quarkmixing matrix.

The *exact* (non-perturbative) correlation functions are analytic in the complex s-plane cut along the positive axis. Exploiting this property, eq. (2.4) can be expressed as a contour integral in the complex s-plane running counter-clockwise around the circle $|s| = M_{\tau}^2$ [3]

$$R_{\tau} = 6\pi i \oint_{|s|=M_{\tau}^2} \frac{ds}{M_{\tau}^2} \left(1 - \frac{s}{M_{\tau}^2}\right)^2 \left[\left(1 + 2\frac{s}{M_{\tau}^2}\right) \Pi^{(1)}(s) + \Pi^{(0)}(s) \right].$$
(2.6)

The same analytic property holds to any finite order in perturbation theory in α_s (although the discontinuity is arbitrarily wrong at small s). Eqs. (2.4) and (2.6) are equivalent if the correlation functions are substituted either by the exact values or finite order perturbative expansions. The equivalence of eqs. (2.4) and (2.6) does not hold in renormalisation group improved perturbation theory due to the Landau pole singularity [17].

Whereas the correlators $\Pi^{(1)}(s)$ and $\Pi^{(0)}(s)$ themselves are not physical quantities in the sense that they contain renormalisation scale and scheme dependent subtraction constants and thus do not satisfy homogeneous renormalisation group equations, by means of partial integration, eq. (2.6) can be rewritten in terms of the physical correlation functions $D^{(1+0)}(s)$ and $D^{(0)}(s)$,

$$D^{(1+0)}(s) \equiv -s \frac{d}{ds} \left[\Pi^{(1+0)}(s) \right], \qquad D^{(0)}(s) \equiv \frac{s}{M_{\tau}^2} \frac{d}{ds} \left[s \Pi^{(0)}(s) \right], \tag{2.7}$$

¹A small component with strange quarks but without net-strangeness also resides in $R_{\tau,V}$ and $R_{\tau,A}$, with the dominant decay channel being $\tau^- \to \pi^- K^0 \bar{K}^0 \nu_{\tau}$.

the first of which being the well-known Adler function [24]. The renormalisation dependent contributions to $\Pi^{(1)}(s)$ and $\Pi^{(0)}(s)$ drop out after contour integration, and in FOPT the perturbative expansions for R_{τ} based on $\Pi(s)$ or D(s) are identical. However, after RG improvement in CIPT, for the first few terms the series displays a faster rate of convergence when employing the correlators $D^{(1+0)}(s)$ and $D^{(0)}(s)$. Thus in the present work we shall only consider an analysis of R_{τ} based on this choice. Utilising the dimensionless integration variable $x \equiv s/M_{\tau}^2$, eq. (2.6) then becomes

$$R_{\tau} = -i\pi \oint_{|x|=1} \frac{dx}{x} (1-x)^3 \left[3(1+x) D^{(1+0)}(M_{\tau}^2 x) + 4 D^{(0)}(M_{\tau}^2 x) \right].$$
(2.8)

For large enough negative s, the contributions to $D^{(J)}(s)$ can be organised in the framework of the operator product expansion in a series of local gauge-invariant operators of increasing dimension times appropriate inverse powers of s. This expansion is expected to be well behaved along the complex contour $|s| = M_{\tau}^2$, except close to the crossing point with the positive real axis [25]. As can be seen from eq. (2.8), however, the contribution near the physical cut at $s = M_{\tau}^2$ is strongly suppressed by a zero of order three. Therefore, uncertainties associated with the use of the OPE near the time-like axis are expected to be very small. Inserting the OPE series for $D^{(J)}(s)$ into (2.8), performing the contour integration, and extracting the terms proportional to $|V_{ud}|^2$, $R_{\tau,V/A}$ in the form of eq. (1.2) emerges.

The purely perturbative correction $\delta^{(0)}$ only receives contributions from the vector and axialvector correlation function in the chiral limit. Since in this limit vector and axialvector contributions coincide, and $D^{(0)}(s) = 0$, to investigate $\delta^{(0)}$ we can restrict ourselves to the study of the perturbative expansion of the vector correlator $\Pi_V^{(1+0)}(s)$ in the massless case. It exhibits the general structure

$$\Pi_V^{(1+0)}(s) = -\frac{N_c}{12\pi^2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{\mu}^n \sum_{k=0}^{n+1} c_{n,k} L^k, \quad L \equiv \ln \frac{-s}{\mu^2}, \qquad (2.9)$$

with $a_{\mu} \equiv a(\mu^2) \equiv \alpha_s(\mu)/\pi$ and μ the renormalisation scale. As was already remarked above, $\Pi_V^{(1+0)}(s)$ itself is not a physical quantity. However, the spectral function is as well as the Adler function $D_V^{(1+0)}(s)$, whose general expansion then takes the form:

$$D_V^{(1+0)}(s) = \frac{N_c}{12\pi^2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} a_{\mu}^n \sum_{k=1}^{n+1} k c_{n,k} L^{k-1}.$$
(2.10)

In this expression, only the coefficients $c_{n,1}$ have to be considered as independent. The coefficients $c_{n,k}$ with k = 2, ..., n + 1 can be related to the $c_{n,1}$ and β -function coefficients by means of the renormalisation group equation (RGE), while the coefficients $c_{n,0}$ do not appear in measurable quantities and $c_{n,n+1} = 0$ for $n \ge 1$. Up to order α_s^4 , the RG

constraints lead to:

$$c_{2,2} = -\frac{\beta_1}{4} c_{1,1}, \quad c_{3,3} = \frac{\beta_1^2}{12} c_{1,1}, \quad c_{3,2} = -\frac{1}{4} (\beta_2 c_{1,1} + 2\beta_1 c_{2,1}),$$

$$c_{4,4} = -\frac{\beta_1^3}{32} c_{1,1}, \quad c_{4,3} = \frac{\beta_1}{24} (5\beta_2 c_{1,1} + 6\beta_1 c_{2,1}),$$

$$c_{4,2} = -\frac{1}{4} (\beta_3 c_{1,1} + 2\beta_2 c_{2,1} + 3\beta_1 c_{3,1}). \quad (2.11)$$

In our convention, the QCD β -function is defined as $\beta(a_{\mu}) \equiv -\mu da_{\mu}/d\mu = \sum_{k=1} \beta_k a_{\mu}^{k+1}$, with the first coefficient being $\beta_1 = 11N_c/6 - N_f/3$. Since the Adler function $D_V^{(1+0)}(s)$ satisfies a homogeneous RGE, the logarithms in eq. (2.10) can be summed with the choice $\mu^2 = -s \equiv Q^2$, leading to the simple expression:

$$D_V^{(1+0)}(Q^2) = \frac{N_c}{12\pi^2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_{n,1} a_Q^n, \qquad (2.12)$$

where $a_Q \equiv \alpha_s(Q)/\pi$.

Until recently, the independent coefficients $c_{n,1}$ were known analytically up to order α_s^3 [26, 27]. At $N_c = 3$ in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ -scheme [28] they read:

$$c_{0,1} = c_{1,1} = 1, \quad c_{2,1} = \frac{365}{24} - 11\zeta_3 - \left(\frac{11}{12} - \frac{2}{3}\zeta_3\right)N_f = 1.640, \quad (2.13)$$

$$c_{3,1} = \frac{87029}{288} - \frac{1103}{4}\zeta_3 + \frac{275}{6}\zeta_5 - \left(\frac{7847}{216} - \frac{262}{9}\zeta_3 + \frac{25}{9}\zeta_5\right)N_f + \left(\frac{151}{162} - \frac{19}{27}\zeta_3\right)N_f^2 = 6.371,$$

where numerical values are given at $N_f = 3$. For the next five- and six-loop coefficients $c_{4,1}$ and $c_{5,1}$, estimates employing principles of "minimal sensitivity" (PMS) or "fastest apparent convergence" (FAC) [29, 30], together with known terms of order $\alpha_s^4 N_f^2$, exist, which for $N_f = 3$ yield [31, 32]:

$$c_{4,1} = 27 \pm 16, \quad c_{5,1} = 145 \pm 100.$$
 (2.14)

However, as of this year, the complete result for the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^4)$ coefficient $c_{4,1}$ is available [18], which greatly helps in our analysis. At $N_f = 3$ it reads:

$$c_{4,1} = \frac{78631453}{20736} - \frac{1704247}{432}\zeta_3 + \frac{4185}{8}\zeta_3^2 + \frac{34165}{96}\zeta_5 - \frac{1995}{16}\zeta_7 = 49.076.$$
(2.15)

Since this result turns out to be larger than the estimate presented in eq. (2.14), we shall not use the PMS/FAC prediction for $c_{5,1}$ of (2.14). Instead, we attempt to estimate this coefficient based either on a uniform convergence rate of the series, or on our model.

3. Renormalisation group summation

We now discuss the renormalisation group improvement of the purely perturbative correction $\delta^{(0)}$ to R_{τ} by means of resummation of the logarithms appearing in eq. (2.10). Returning to eq. (2.8) and inserting the general expansion (2.10) for $D_V^{(1+0)}(s)$, $\delta^{(0)}$ is found to take the form

$$\delta^{(0)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a_{\mu}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{n} k c_{n,k} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|x|=1} \frac{dx}{x} (1-x)^{3} (1+x) \ln^{k-1} \left(\frac{-M_{\tau}^{2} x}{\mu^{2}}\right), \quad (3.1)$$

where the identical contribution from the axialvector correlator has already been taken into account.

As discussed above, the Adler function $D_V^{(1+0)}(s)$ and therefore also $\delta^{(0)}$ satisfy a homogeneous RGE. In fixed-order perturbation theory (FOPT) the logarithms in eq. (3.1) are summed by setting $\mu^2 = M_{\tau}^2$, leading to

$$\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a(M_{\tau}^2)^n \sum_{k=1}^n k \, c_{n,k} \, J_{k-1} \,. \tag{3.2}$$

The contour integrals J_l in eq. (3.2) are defined by

$$J_{l} \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{\substack{|x|=1}} \frac{dx}{x} (1-x)^{3} (1+x) \ln^{l}(-x) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left[I_{l,0} + 2I_{l,1} - 2I_{l,3} - I_{l,4} \right].$$
(3.3)

The integrals $I_{l,m}$ are given by

$$I_{l,m} \equiv i \oint_{|x|=1} dx \, (-x)^{m-1} \ln^{l}(-x) = i \int_{-\pi}^{+\pi} d\alpha \, \alpha^{l} e^{im\alpha} = i \left(\frac{-1}{m}\right)^{l+1} \Gamma(l+1, -i\alpha m) \Big|_{-\pi}^{+\pi}$$
$$= (-1)^{l+m} \frac{2 \, l!}{m^{l+2}} \sum_{k=1}^{[(l+1)/2]} (-1)^{k} \frac{m^{2k} \pi^{2k-1}}{(2k-1)!}, \qquad (3.4)$$

where $\Gamma(l+1, z)$ is the incomplete Γ -function, [n] denotes the integer part of n and $m \ge 1$. For m = 0, one obtains $I_{l,0} = i^l [1 + (-1)^l] \pi^{l+1}/(l+1)$. The first few of the integrals J_l , which are needed up to order α_s^4 , read:

$$J_0 = 1, \quad J_1 = -\frac{19}{12}, \quad J_2 = \frac{265}{72} - \frac{1}{3}\pi^2, \quad J_3 = -\frac{3355}{288} + \frac{19}{12}\pi^2,$$
(3.5)

in agreement with ref. [16].

At order α_s^n FOPT contains unsummed logarithms of order $\ln^l(-x) \sim \pi^l$ with l < n related to the contour integrals J_l . Contour-improved perturbation theory (CIPT) sums these logarithms with the choice $\mu^2 = -M_{\tau}^2 x$ in eq. (3.1), which yields

$$\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_{n,1} J_n^a(M_\tau^2)$$
(3.6)

in terms of the contour integrals $J^a_n(M^2_{\tau})$ over the running coupling, defined as:

$$J_n^a(M_\tau^2) \equiv \frac{1}{2\pi i} \oint_{|x|=1} \frac{dx}{x} (1-x)^3 (1+x) a^n (-M_\tau^2 x).$$
(3.7)



Figure 1: Contour integrals $J_n^a(M_\tau^2)$ of eq. (3.7) required for CIPT as a function of the perturbative order n, computed with an initial value $\alpha_s(M_\tau) = 0.34$ and 4-loop running.

In contrast to FOPT, for CIPT each order n just depends on the corresponding coefficient $c_{n,1}$. Thus, all contributions proportional to the coefficient $c_{n,1}$ which in FOPT appear at all perturbative orders equal or greater than n are resummed into a single term. This is related to the fact that CIPT resums the running of the QCD coupling along the integration contour in the complex *s*-plane as can be derived directly from eq. (2.12).

In view of our numerical analysis below, a few additional remarks are in order. Although from the form of eq. (3.6), the contour integrals $J_n^a(M_\tau^2)$ could be considered as effective couplings, they have a rather non-trivial dependence on the perturbative order n. This can be seen from figure 1, in which we display $J_n^a(M_\tau^2)/a(M_\tau^2)^n$ for an initial value $\alpha_s(M_\tau) = 0.34$ [7] as a function of n up to n = 30. Up to the 7th order, $J_n^a(M_\tau^2)$ is positive and then above the 7th order turns negative. This implies that $J_7^a(M_\tau^2)$ is rather small which is later reflected in the fact that with four-loop running of α_s always the 7th term in the CIPT series is found smallest. This observation already casts some doubts on the approach of treating the CIPT series in the sense of an asymptotic series for which quite often the optimal truncation is provided by breaking the series at the smallest term [33].

We now recall (as is well-known, see for instance [18]) that the two approaches lead to significant numerical differences. Using the analytically known coefficients of eqs. (2.13) as well as (2.15) and $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.34$ in eqs. (3.2) and (3.6), we obtain:

$$\alpha_s^1 \qquad \alpha_s^2 \qquad \alpha_s^3 \qquad \alpha_s^4 \qquad \alpha_s^5$$

$$\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)} = 0.1082 + 0.0609 + 0.0334 + 0.0174 (+ 0.0088) = 0.2200 (0.2288), \qquad (3.8)$$

$$\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)} = 0.1479 + 0.0297 + 0.0122 + 0.0086 (+ 0.0038) = 0.1984 (0.2021). \qquad (3.9)$$

The CI series displays a faster convergence, but the two series do not appear to approach a common value as successive terms are added. Summing both series up to order α_s^4 , the difference between FO and CI perturbation theory amounts to 0.0216. The size of this difference is of the order of the last included term in the FO series and about a factor of 2.5 times the corresponding CIPT term. This apparent disparity in the perturbative prediction at the moment represents the dominant theoretical uncertainty in the extraction of the strong coupling α_s from the hadronic τ decay rate. Thus, it is legitimate to ask how the series for $\delta_{\text{CI}}^{(0)}$ and $\delta_{\text{FO}}^{(0)}$ behave if even higher-order perturbative coefficients are included. On the one hand both results would be expected to be compatible, if an all-order result were available. On the other hand, re-expansion of the contour-improved integrals $J_n^a(M_\tau^2)$ into the fixed-order series in $a(M_\tau^2)$ results in a series that is barely convergent for realistic values of $a(M_\tau^2)$ [16], so one might question the validity of FOPT altogether. In the following sections we examine these issues assuming different behaviours of the higher-order terms in the series.

An immediate question which arises is, if, on the basis of the series up to the fourth order, we are in a position to say something about the next coefficient $c_{5,1}$? As a somewhat naive guess, we might assume that the size of the fifth order should be at most of the size of the previous term and larger than zero, which is to say that the asymptotic (divergent, sign-alternating) behaviour has not yet set in at the fifth order. Applying this criterion to the CI series, one arrives at the estimate $0 < c_{5,1} < 642$. A slightly more elaborate estimate can be based on the striking feature that the convergence rate of the FOPT series is found to be very uniform. Each new term is rather closely half of the preceeding one, and the slight dependence on the order can even be nicely fit to a linear behaviour. Assuming that this property persists also at the fifth order, we arrive at the estimate²

$$c_{5,1} \approx 283.$$
 (3.10)

This value lies close to the centre of the range given above, and in section 6 it will be seen that eq. (3.10) is corroborated by our model of higher order coefficients. Interestingly, it is also close to the update of the FAC estimate to account for the newly available exact $c_{4,1}$, which yields $c_{5,1} = 275$ [18]. Including the estimate (3.10) in the series for $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)}$ and $\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)}$, the numbers in brackets given in eqs. (3.8) and (3.9) are obtained. Now, the difference $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)} - \delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)} = 0.0267$ is increased even further, and found much larger than the last included summands.

4. Higher orders: toy models

To acquire some feeling of what can happen to $\delta^{(0)}$ in FO and CI perturbation theory when higher terms in the perturbative series are included, in this section we exhibit a few toy models. Let us emphasise that we do not believe that these models have much in common with the true QCD case (with the exception, perhaps, of the large- β_0 approximation). Rather our concern is to find out which features of the higher-order series determine whether CIPT of FOPT represents a better approximation to the true result. Inspired by what we

²Postdicting $c_{4,1}$ in this way, we find $c_{4,1} = 52$! The first few terms of the FO series for $\delta^{(0)}$ are very nearly geometric.



Figure 2: Results for $\delta_{\text{FO}}^{(0)}$ (full circles) and $\delta_{\text{CI}}^{(0)}$ (grey circles) at $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.34$, setting the higherorder coefficients $c_{n,1} = 0$ for $n \ge 6$. The results up to the fifth order coincide with eqs. (3.8) and (3.9) respectively.

learn from the models, we are led to the construction of a realistic ansatz which will be discussed in detail in the following sections.

4.1 Truncated Adler function

Let us begin by considering the case in which all perturbative coefficients $c_{n,1}$ are set to zero for $n \ge 6$. This model has already been investigated in ref. [19], in order to see how FOPT and CIPT might be compatible even though at the fifth order their difference appears rather dramatic. A graphical display of the model is shown in figure 2. The result for $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)}$ is given as the full circles and $\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)}$ as the grey circles, as a function of the order up to which the perturbative series has been summed. To guide the eye, we have also connected the points by straight line segments. Since at each order $\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)}$ only depends on the explicit coefficient $c_{n,1}$, starting from the order where the coefficients are taken to be zero, CIPT becomes exact (and thus $\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)}$ constant). On the contrary, in FOPT, besides the contribution from the $c_{n,1}$, at each order we also have contributions involving all lower $c_{k,1}$ with k < n, which are due to the running of α_s along the complex contour. In FOPT these latter terms are present even if the higher $c_{n,1}$ are set to zero, and entail that for higher orders $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)}$ oscillates around the constant $\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)}$. It is evident that for the present example FOPT represents a rather poor approximation to the exact result up to very high n.

Quite generally, we can write $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)}$ in the form

$$\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)} = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left[c_{n,1} + g_n \right] a(M_{\tau}^2)^n \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where the $c_{n,1}$ series is simply the Adler function series, while the g_n series represents the additional contribution from the contour-integral of the Adler function series. By comparison with eq. (3.2), $g_n = \sum_{k=2}^n k c_{n,k} J_{k-1}$, hence depending only on $c_{k,1}$ with k < nand β -function coefficients as remarked above. With only a few values of $c_{n,1}$ given, the g_n series has a finite radius of convergence [16]. For $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$ slightly larger than 0.34 the series becomes divergent due to large running coupling effects along the circular contour – the amplitude of oscillations of FOPT around the exact result grows and FOPT is never a good approximation. This is the reason why CIPT is usually argued to provide the more reliable approximation to R_{τ} .

The general picture observed in this special case also translates to other models in which the coefficients $c_{n,1}$ are small compared to the running effects along the complex contour. However, the real series expansion of R_{τ} is not of this general form. Rather, both the c_n and g_n series are divergent with zero radius of convergence, and can at best assumed to be asymptotic. Moreover, systematic cancellations are predicted between the c_n and g_n terms, when n is sufficiently large.

4.2 The "large- β_0 " approximation

We take a first look at the issues that arise when the series have zero radius of convergence in another toy-model, the so-called "large- β_0 " approximation.³ An analytic result for the Borel transform of the Adler function and the corresponding R_{τ} is available [17, 20, 34, 35, 36] in this approximation, and thus the perturbative coefficients $c_{n,1}$ are known to all orders.

Let us briefly review the results for $\delta^{(0)}$ in the large- β_0 approximation. To make contact to the notation employed in the original works on renormalons in connection to the Adler function and R_{τ} [17, 36] (for a review see [20]), it is convenient to define the new function $\hat{D}(s)$ by

$$\frac{12\pi^2}{N_c} D_V^{(1+0)}(s) \equiv 1 + \widehat{D}(s) \equiv 1 + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r_n \,\alpha_s(\sqrt{s})^{n+1} \,. \tag{4.2}$$

Then the expansion coefficients of $D_V^{(1+0)}(s)$ and $\widehat{D}(s)$ are related by $c_{n,1} = \pi^n r_{n-1}$. Next, the Borel-transform of $\widehat{D}(s)$ is defined by

$$B[\widehat{D}](t) \equiv \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r_n \frac{t^n}{n!}.$$
(4.3)

If $B[\hat{D}](t)$ has no singularities for real positive t (which is not the case for the Adler function) and does not increase too rapidly at positive infinity, one can define the Borel integral (α positive) as

$$\widehat{D}(\alpha) \equiv \int_{0}^{\infty} dt \,\mathrm{e}^{-t/\alpha} \,B[\widehat{D}](t)\,, \qquad (4.4)$$

³For historical reasons, we shall speak about the "large- β_0 " approximation, although in the notation employed in this work, the leading coefficient of the β -function is termed β_1 . The "large- β_0 " approximation uses only the term with the highest power in the number of light flavours, N_f , in $c_{n,1}$, and replaces N_f by $-3\beta_1$. Correspondingly, in the evolution of α_s , only one-loop running is taken into account.

which has the same series expansion in α as $\widehat{D}(s)$ does in $\alpha_s(\sqrt{s})$. The integral $\widehat{D}(\alpha)$, if it exists, gives the Borel sum of the original divergent series. Calculating so-called bubblechain diagrams, it was found that the Borel-transformed Adler function $B[\widehat{D}](t)$ obtains infrared (IR) and ultraviolet (UV) renormalon poles at positive and negative integer values of the variable $u \equiv \beta_1 t/(2\pi)$, respectively [34, 35]. (With the exception of u = 1.) While the IR renormalons are related to power corrections in the operator product expansion, the leading UV renormalon, being closest to u = 0, dictates the large-order behaviour of the perturbative expansion.

The central result of refs. [34, 35] is that the Borel transform of the Adler function in the large- β_0 approximation (see also eq. (5.10) of ref. [20]) can be expressed as [35]

$$B[\widehat{D}](u) = \frac{32}{3\pi} \frac{e^{-Cu}}{(2-u)} \sum_{k=2}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k k}{[k^2 - (1-u)^2]^2}, \qquad (4.5)$$

where C is a scheme-dependent constant which cancels the scheme dependence of α in eq. (4.4), such that $\widehat{D}(s)$ is independent of this choice. In the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ -scheme it takes the value C = -5/3. Taylor expanding the Borel transform in the variable u and performing the Borel integral (4.4) term by term, the perturbative coefficients $c_{n,1}$ for the large- β_0 approximation can be deduced.⁴ Numerical values for the first 12 coefficients in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme are presented in table 1. One observes that the dominance of the leading UV renormalon at u = -1, and the corresponding sign alternating behaviour of the series, in the large- β_0 approximation sets in at the 6th order.

The perturbative coefficients of table 1 can now be employed to calculate $\delta^{(0)}$ in the large- β_0 approximation. For consistency the running of α_s was also implemented at the one-loop order. (We shall soon see that this plays an important role.) A graphical account of our results at the physical coupling $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.34$ is displayed in figure 3. Again, the full circles correspond to $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)}$ in FOPT while the grey circles provide $\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)}$ in the large- β_0 approximation. In both cases, the grey diamonds represent the order at which the FO and CI series have their smallest terms, before the asymptotic behaviour sets in. The qualitative picture is rather different from the previous case of the truncated Adler function displayed in figure 2. Both series appear to reach a plateau before the divergence sets in, though the plateau is reached at higher order for FOPT in agreement with the earlier analysis [17]. However, the difference in the plateau values of $\delta^{(0)}$ is far larger than the minimal terms of both series, hence FOPT and CIPT seem to give incompatible results within the conventional uncertainty estimates.

	⁴ A particularly	effective way of	analytically	generating the	large- β_0	coefficients $c_{n,1}$	can be	derived f	from
eq.	(26) of ref. $[37]$].							

$c_{1,1}$ 1	$c_{2,1}$ 1.5565	$c_{3,1}$ 15.711	$c_{4,1}$ 24.832	$c_{5,1}$ 787.83	$c_{6,1} - 1991.4$
$c_{7,1}$ 9.857 · 10 ⁴	$c_{8,1} - 1.078 \cdot 10^6$	$c_{9,1}$ 2.775 · 10 ⁷	$c_{10,1} - 5.388 \cdot 10^8$	$\begin{array}{c} c_{11,1} \\ 1.396 \cdot 10^{10} \end{array}$	$c_{12,1} - 3.598 \cdot 10^{11}$

Table 1: Perturbative coefficients $c_{n,1}$ in the large- β_0 approximation up to 12th order.



Figure 3: Results for $\delta_{\text{FO}}^{(0)}$ (full circles) and $\delta_{\text{CI}}^{(0)}$ (grey circles) at $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.34$, employing the higher-order coefficients $c_{n,1}$ of table 1 obtained in the large- β_0 approximation, as a function of the order n up to which the terms in the perturbative series have been summed. The straight line represents the result for the Borel sum of the series, and the shaded band provides an error estimate inferred from the complex ambiguity.

Which is the better approximation to the "true" result? Since we now have a closed expression for the Borel transform of the Adler function, we can compute the Borel integral and compare the perturbative series to this result. We do not expect the Borel integral to correspond exactly to the "true" result. First, the "true" result receives condensate corrections from higher-dimensional operators in the OPE expansion. Second, when the Borel transform has poles on the positive *t*-axis, the Borel integral must be defined by an arbitrary deformation of the contour into the complex plane, which introduces an ambiguity, whose dependence on α matches the condensate corrections. The two are closely related (see the review [20]), and it has been observed [17] that the size of the ambiguity divided by π is indeed of the order of non-perturbative corrections in the OPE. We thus conclude that we expect the "true" result to coincide with the principal value of the Borel integral within an accuracy set by about the ambiguity of Borel integral (divided by π), and certainly not parametrically larger.

In figure 3 the horizontal line represents the value of the Borel integral when the series is summed via the principal-value prescription, and the shaded region marks the size of the complex ambiguity in the Borel integral.⁵ Details on the analytical calculation of the Borel transform have been relegated to appendix A. A good approximation of the "true" result should approach the shaded region smoothly and diverge eventually. Figure 3 shows the remarkable result, already observed in [17], that in the large- β_0 approximation FOPT approaches the Borel sum in a rather monotonous fashion until the 10th order after which the sign-alternating divergent behaviour of the series sets in, while CIPT never comes close

⁵To obtain the maximal complex ambiguity the IR renormalon poles are circled in such a way that they all contribute with the same sign. The modulus of the imaginary part thus obtained is then divided by π .

to the "true" result due to an earlier onset of the divergence. Clearly FOPT represents the better approximation here, even at n = 4, in stark contrast to the previous example of the truncated Adler function series.

Let us try to gain a better insight as to why the behaviour in the large- β_0 approximation is so different from our first model. An immediate observation that can be made is that the $c_{n,1}$ have to be of a similar size as the running effects g_n from the contour, such that strong cancellations between these two effects take place. To make this more precise, consider the simple relation between $B[\hat{D}]$ and the correspondingly defined Borel transform of $\delta^{(0)}$ expanded in $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$ given by [38]

$$B[\delta^{(0)}](u) = B[\widehat{D}](u)\sin(\pi u)\left[\frac{1}{\pi u} + \frac{2}{\pi(1-u)} - \frac{2}{\pi(3-u)} + \frac{1}{\pi(4-u)}\right],$$
(4.6)

which is valid in the large- β_0 limit.⁶ We are then in a position to derive the large-order behaviour. Applying the decomposition (4.1), we obtain

$$c_{n+1,1} = \left(\frac{\beta_1}{2}\right)^n n! \left[-\frac{4}{9} e^{-5/3} (-1)^n \left(n + \frac{7}{2}\right) + \frac{e^{10/3}}{2^n} + \dots \right],$$

$$g_{n+1} = \left(\frac{\beta_1}{2}\right)^n n! \left[-\frac{4}{9} e^{-5/3} (-1)^n \left(n + \frac{16}{5}\right) - \frac{e^{10/3}}{2^n} + \dots \right],$$
(4.7)

where the dots denote the less important poles beyond the leading ultraviolet renormalon pole (u = -1) and the leading infrared one (u = 2). This shows explicitly the strong cancellations that take place between the Adler function series and the extra terms generated by the integration along the circle. The suppression of the large-*n* divergence allows FOPT to approach the Borel sum smoothly. We also see why CIPT fails in this case: when such strong cancellations between the $c_{n,1}$ and g_n series are present, it is mandatory to combine the two series at the same order. However, CIPT uses the $c_{n,1}$ up to some finite order, while summing the g_n to all orders, thus missing the cancellation [17, 20]. The result is that CIPT runs earlier into the leading UV renormalon divergence, as seen in figure 3, though the divergence is damped by the suppression of the effective couplings $J_n^a(M_{\tau}^2)$ as discussed in section 3.

There are some lessons that can be drawn from our observations which are valid beyond the large- β_0 toy model. First, since the known exact coefficients of the Adler function series show no interference of a sign-alternating component, we expect the leading IR renormalon at u = 2 to be the most relevant contribution, before the eventual sign-alternation takes over, just as above. Second, the leading IR renormalon contribution will no longer cancel completely as it does in eq. (4.7). However, it is true in general that it is suppressed by a factor $1/n^2$ in the sum $c_{n,1} + g_n$ relative to $c_{n,1}$ alone [38], since this follows from the OPE and the anomalous dimension of the gluon condensate. Thus, we expect some of the features of the large- β_0 toy model to survive in the realistic QCD case.

⁶To derive this result, insert eq. (4.4) into eq. (2.8) and perform the contour integral employing the one-loop expression for $\alpha_s(\sqrt{s})$.

Next, we corroborate these findings with two further simplistic models, which will also uncover another crucial ingredient for the building of a more realistic model for higher order coefficients.

4.3 Single pole models

In order to separate the effects of a specific renormalon pole, and to give support to our previous findings, we investigate a single IR renormalon pole at position p, for which we shall consider the particular cases p = 2 and p = 3. Explicitly, our single pole model for the Borel transform of the Adler function series takes the form:

$$B[\hat{D}_p](u) \equiv \frac{d_p^{\rm IR}}{(p-u)} + \sum_{i=0}^3 d_i^{\rm PO} u^i \,.$$
(4.8)

We fix the residue d_p^{IR} such that the perturbative coefficient $c_{5,1} = 283$, and the polynomial terms d_i^{PO} are adjusted such as to reproduce the lower order coefficients according to eqs. (2.13) and (2.15). The reason behind employing $c_{5,1}$ to fix the residue is that we like to work with a perturbative order at which a dominance of the leading IR renormalon to the coefficient is expected, but this assumption is not crucial for our argument.

The numerical results for the model (4.8) with p = 2 are shown in figure 4. The upper plot corresponds to $\delta_{\text{FO}}^{(0)}$, the lower one to $\delta_{\text{CI}}^{(0)}$. Let us first concentrate on the triangles which are connected by dashed line segments, and for which the running of α_s at 1-loop has been employed. This case is rather similar to the large- β_0 approximation. FOPT approaches the Borel sum (the horizontal dashed line) well, although here in a slightly oscillatory manner, and up to the order shown in the plot the divergent behaviour has not yet set in. Conversely, like for the large- β_0 approximation above, for CIPT the divergent behaviour sets in much earlier and the series never comes close to the Borel sum.

The picture drastically changes when the running of the coupling in the contour integration is implemented at four loops. This case is shown as the full and grey diamonds in figure 4, which are connected by dash-dotted lines. The corresponding Borel sum is the straight dash-dotted line. $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)}$ first overshoots the "true" result by a large amount, then displays a large oscillation similar to figure 2, before it starts to diverge, while CIPT appears more like the 1-loop case. Still, with 4-loop running, neither FOPT nor CIPT approach the Borel sum in a sensible fashion. The reason for this unexpected behaviour can be traced back to the fact that our model (4.8) only contains a simple pole. Such a simple pole is the correct structure of a renormalon pole in the large- β_0 limit, but when higher terms in the β -function are to be included, the renormalon pole structure gets more complicated, also involving cuts, whose gross features are determined by the OPE [20]. Hence, to construct a consistent model which aims to use a 4-loop running coupling, also the renormalon cut structure has to be incorporated at the same order. The results required at four loops will be derived in the next section. Once four-loop running is consistently included in the Adler function Borel transform eq. (4.8) and the contour integration, we obtain the circles connected by solid lines in figure 4. Now we find again that FOPT for an IR pole at u = 2smoothly approaches the Borel sum, while CIPT fails.



Figure 4: Results for $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)}$ (full circles, diamonds, triangles) and $\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)}$ (grey circles, diamonds, triangles) at $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.34$, for the model of eq. (4.8) at p = 2. The triangles correspond to a running of α_s at 1-loop, while for the diamonds a 4-loop running coupling has been employed. For the circles the pole in eq. (4.8) is modified to account for the 4-loop renormalon cut structure. The straight dashed, dash-dotted and solid lines represent the respective Borel sums.

To conclude the discussion of simple toy models, we finally investigate the ansatz (4.8) with p = 3. Graphically, this case is displayed in figure 5, with the same notation as used in figure 4. We see that this case very much resembles the model of figure 2, where the higher $c_{n,1}$ had been set to zero. The p = 3 model differs from the p = 2 one in two respects. First, it follows from eq. (4.6) that there is no suppression of $c_{n,1} + g_n$ relative to $c_{n,1}$ in large orders. More importantly, with p = 3 the divergence of the series is milder. Hence, the Adler function coefficients $c_{n,1}$ are much smaller than the running effects g_n along the complex contour, an expectation that can be verified by explicitly investigating the $c_{n,1}$ in this model. Thus, like for the first model, the truncated Adler function, CIPT provides a



Figure 5: Results for $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)}$ (full circles, diamonds, triangles) and $\delta_{\rm CI}^{(0)}$ (grey circles, diamonds, triangles) at $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.34$, for the model of eq. (4.8) at p = 3. The triangles correspond to a running of α_s at 1-loop, while for the diamonds a 4-loop running coupling has been employed. For the circles the pole in eq. (4.8) is modified to account for the 4-loop renormalon cut structure. The straight dashed, dash-dotted and solid lines represent the respective Borel sums.

good account of the Borel sum, and FOPT is only able to approach this value with large oscillations.

4.4 Resumé

The main conclusions from the toy examples are as follows. We find that CIPT provides the better approximation whenever running coupling effects to the series expansion of R_{τ} dominate over the intrinsic Adler function coefficients as should have been expected. This is the case in truncated perturbation theory and in models with weak factorial divergence, such as the p = 3 single-pole model. We find that FOPT provides the better approximation, whenever there are systematic cancellations between the Adler function and running coupling contributions. Such cancellations occur in the p = 2 single-pole model, the large- β_0 approximation, and in general for the leading IR renormalon contribution to R_{τ} . We also find that to correctly account for these cancellations, the running coupling effects have to be implemented at the same loop-order in the contour integral and the renormalon structure of the Adler function Borel transform. The interesting question is now which of these features is relevant to the "real world".

The discussion of this section already allows to disfavour a large class of models for the realistic Borel-transformed Adler function that were initially considered by us. In this class fall models with renormalon poles that only have integer power, because they fail to account consistently for running coupling effects beyond 1-loop evolution. For the same reason – besides not using the available information on the known positions of the renormalon poles – also models based on Padé approximation are of limited use.

In order to be able to build a more realistic model for B[D](u), as a prerequisite, employing the RGE and the structure of the OPE, in the next section we shall derive the general form of the renormalon cut including β -function effects up to 4-loop level.

5. Renormalon poles at four loops

Our next aim is a physically motivated ansatz for the Borel transform of the Adler function $B[\hat{D}](t)$, which incorporates all known exact results, and on the basis of which we will be in a position to investigate the influence of higher-order perturbative contributions, and to perform a comparison of the perturbative series in FOPT and CIPT with its Borel sum. As has been seen in the last section, if higher-order running effects are to be included in the contour integration, the renormalon pole structure should match the corresponding loop order. The derivation of the renormalon cut is based just on the structure of the OPE and the RGE, detached from any limitations of the large- β_0 approximation, up to an unknown overall constant. The expressions obtained in this section extend the analysis already presented in sections 3.2.3 and 3.3.1 of ref. [20] to one more loop order.

Let us begin with the IR renormalon poles. The central idea is that the IR renormalon ambiguity of the Borel integral arises from long-distance regions in Feynman integrals, and therefore must be consistent with the power-suppressed terms appearing in the operator product expansion [39, 40]. Comparing the energy dependence of a certain term in the OPE to the one of the complex ambiguity of the Borel integral, the renormalon singularity that gives rise to this ambiguity can be determined. A generic term in the OPE of $\hat{D}(s)$ from an operator O_d of dimension d can be written as

$$\widehat{C}_{O_d}(a_Q) \,\frac{\langle \widehat{O}_d \rangle}{Q^d} = \left[a_Q\right]^{\frac{\gamma_{O_d}^{(1)}}{\beta_1}} \left[\,\widehat{C}_{O_d}^{(0)} + \widehat{C}_{O_d}^{(1)} \,a_Q + \widehat{C}_{O_d}^{(2)} \,a_Q^2 + \dots \,\right] \frac{\langle \widehat{O}_d \rangle}{Q^d} \,, \tag{5.1}$$

where the anomalous dimension γ_{O_d} of the operator O_d is defined by

$$-\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} O_d(\mu) \equiv \gamma_{O_d}(a_\mu) O_d(\mu) = \left[\gamma_{O_d}^{(1)} a_\mu + \gamma_{O_d}^{(2)} a_\mu^2 + \gamma_{O_d}^{(3)} a_\mu^3 + \dots \right] O_d(\mu) .$$
(5.2)

For convenience, we have expressed eq. (5.1) in terms of the scale invariant operator \widehat{O}_d , defined by

$$\widehat{O}_d \equiv O_d(\mu) \exp\left\{-\int \frac{\gamma_{O_d}(a_\mu)}{\beta(a_\mu)} da_\mu\right\},\tag{5.3}$$

such that higher order coefficients of γ_{O_d} are contained in the Wilson coefficients $\widehat{C}_{O_d}^{(k)}$. Since eq. (5.1) will only be needed up to a multiplicative factor, we do not have to specify the constant of integration in (5.3), and without loss of generality, it can be assumed to be zero. Employing the RGE for a_Q , the Q-dependent part of (5.1) can be written as:

$$\frac{\widehat{C}_{O_d}(a_Q)}{Q^d} = \text{const.} \times \widehat{C}_{O_d}(a_Q) e^{-\frac{d}{\beta_1 a_Q}} [a_Q]^{-d\frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1^2}} \exp\left\{ d\int_0^{a_Q} \left[\frac{1}{\beta(a)} - \frac{1}{\beta_1 a^2} + \frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1^2 a} \right] da \right\},$$

$$= \text{const.} \times \widehat{C}_{O_d}(a_Q) e^{-\frac{d}{\beta_1 a_Q}} [a_Q]^{-d\frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1^2}} \left[1 + b_1 a_Q + b_2 a_Q^2 + \dots \right],$$
(5.4)

where the coefficients b_1 and b_2 are found to be:

$$b_1 = \frac{d}{\beta_1^3} \left(\beta_2^2 - \beta_1 \beta_3 \right) , \qquad b_2 = \frac{b_1^2}{2} - \frac{d}{2\beta_1^4} \left(\beta_2^3 - 2\beta_1 \beta_2 \beta_3 + \beta_1^2 \beta_4 \right) . \tag{5.5}$$

To find the Borel transform that matches the Q-dependence of (5.4), we take the ansatz:

$$B[\hat{D}_{p}^{\mathrm{IR}}](u) \equiv \frac{d_{p}^{\mathrm{IR}}}{(p-u)^{1+\tilde{\gamma}}} \left[1 + \tilde{b}_{1}(p-u) + \tilde{b}_{2}(p-u)^{2} + \dots \right].$$
(5.6)

Employing eq. (A.8), the imaginary ambiguity corresponding to the Borel integral of $B[\hat{D}_p^{\text{IR}}](u)$ is found to be:

$$\operatorname{Im}\left[\widehat{D}_{p}^{\mathrm{IR}}(a_{Q})\right] = \operatorname{const.} \times \,\mathrm{e}^{-\frac{2p}{\beta_{1}a_{Q}}} \left[a_{Q}\right]^{-\tilde{\gamma}} \left[1 + \tilde{b}_{1}\frac{\beta_{1}}{2}\,\tilde{\gamma}\,a_{Q} + \tilde{b}_{2}\frac{\beta_{1}^{2}}{4}\,\tilde{\gamma}(\tilde{\gamma}-1)\,a_{Q}^{2} + \dots\right].$$
(5.7)

Comparing eqs. (5.4) and (5.7), one deduces:

$$p = \frac{d}{2}, \quad \tilde{\gamma} = 2p \frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1^2} - \frac{\gamma_{O_d}^{(1)}}{\beta_1}, \quad \tilde{b}_1 = \frac{2(b_1 + c_1)}{\beta_1 \tilde{\gamma}}, \quad \tilde{b}_2 = \frac{4(b_2 + b_1 c_1 + c_2)}{\beta_1^2 \tilde{\gamma}(\tilde{\gamma} - 1)}, \quad (5.8)$$

where $c_1 \equiv \hat{C}_{O_d}^{(1)} / \hat{C}_{O_d}^{(0)}$ and $c_2 \equiv \hat{C}_{O_d}^{(2)} / \hat{C}_{O_d}^{(0)}$. Taylor expanding the ansatz (5.6) in u and performing the Borel integral term by term yields the perturbative series:

$$\widehat{D}_{p}^{\text{IR}}(a_{Q}) = \frac{\pi d_{p}^{\text{IR}}}{p^{1+\tilde{\gamma}} \Gamma(1+\tilde{\gamma})} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Gamma(n+1+\tilde{\gamma}) \left(\frac{\beta_{1}}{2p}\right)^{n} a_{Q}^{n+1} \\
\times \left[1 + \frac{2p}{\beta_{1}} \frac{(b_{1}+c_{1})}{(n+\tilde{\gamma})} + \left(\frac{2p}{\beta_{1}}\right)^{2} \frac{(b_{2}+b_{1}c_{1}+c_{2})}{(n+\tilde{\gamma})(n+\tilde{\gamma}-1)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{n^{3}}\right)\right].$$
(5.9)

Eq. (5.9) extends the corresponding eq. (3.51) of ref. [20] to include terms of order $1/n^2$ in the large-order behaviour of the perturbative series.⁷

⁷Note a missing sign in the global factor containing β_0 in eq. (3.51) of [20], which should read $(-2\beta_0/d)^n$.

The corresponding expression for a general UV renormalon pole when higher orders in the running are included can be deduced by formally considering negative coupling a_Q and a Borel integral that ranges from zero to minus infinity [41]. Then one finds poles leading to ambiguities on the negative real axis, and the complex ambiguities can again be identified with the RGE properties of some higher-dimensional operators. The result is that the constants in the parametrisation of the general UV singularity,

$$B[\widehat{D}_{p}^{\rm UV}](u) \equiv \frac{d_{p}^{\rm UV}}{(p+u)^{1+\bar{\gamma}}} \left[1 + \bar{b}_{1}(p+u) + \bar{b}_{2}(p+u)^{2} \right],$$
(5.10)

can be obtained from the corresponding parameters of the IR renormalon pole (5.6) with the replacement $p \rightarrow -p$, leading to:

$$\bar{\gamma} = -2p \frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1^2} + \frac{\gamma_{O_d}^{(1)}}{\beta_1}, \qquad \bar{b}_1 = -\tilde{b}_1[p \to -p], \qquad \bar{b}_2 = \tilde{b}_2[p \to -p].$$
 (5.11)

The perturbative expansion corresponding to eq. (5.10) takes the form:⁸

$$\widehat{D}_{p}^{\text{UV}}(a_{Q}) = \frac{\pi d_{p}^{\text{UV}}}{p^{1+\bar{\gamma}} \Gamma(1+\bar{\gamma})} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Gamma(n+1+\bar{\gamma}) \left(-\frac{\beta_{1}}{2p}\right)^{n} a_{Q}^{n+1} \\ \times \left[1+\bar{b}_{1} \frac{p\bar{\gamma}}{(n+\bar{\gamma})} + \bar{b}_{2} \frac{p^{2} \bar{\gamma}(\bar{\gamma}-1)}{(n+\bar{\gamma})(n+\bar{\gamma}-1)} + \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{1}{n^{3}}\right)\right].$$
(5.12)

In the next section, the general forms of the IR and UV renormalon singularities (5.6) and (5.10) will be employed to construct a physically motivated model for the Borel transform of the Adler function $B[\hat{D}](u)$. In order to describe the leading IR renormalon at u = 2 as well as possible, in this case we include the known Wilson coefficient function and anomalous dimension of the gluon condensate $\langle aG^2 \rangle$ [42], which results in [43]

$$c_1[\langle aG^2 \rangle] = \frac{C_A}{2} - \frac{C_F}{4} - \frac{\beta_2}{\beta_1}, \qquad (5.13)$$

while all other c's appearing in the equations above will be set to zero.

6. A physical model for the Adler function series

To clarify whether FOPT or CIPT results in a better approximation to the τ hadronic width, we need to construct a physically motivated model for the Adler function series beyond the order n = 4, up to which it is known exactly. Since the four lowest coefficients are available, it is reasonable to attempt to merge the low-order series with the expected large-order behaviour. Furthermore, it is convenient to generate the series from its Borel transform.⁹ A physical model should account for the following features:

⁸There is a sign mistake in the term proportional to 1/n in the corresponding eq. (3.48) of [20].

⁹A previous attempt to resum the perturbative series for R_{τ} , based on Borel transforms of the Adler function, has been made in ref. [44].

- It should reproduce the exactly known $c_{n,1}$, $n \leq 4$.
- The very large order behaviour is governed by a sign-alternating UV renormalon divergence. Since the low-order series shows no sign of a sizeable alternating component, it should be sufficient to include the leading singularity at u = -1. On the other hand, since the intermediate orders are governed by IR renormalons, at least two IR renormalon singularities, at u = 2 and u = 3, should be included to merge the large-order behaviour with the low-order exact coefficients.
- Since four-loop running is employed in the contour integral that relates the Adler function to R_{τ} , the renormalon singularities in the Borel transform cannot be simple poles, but should be extended consistently to cuts. This is particularly important for u = 2. We use the equations from section 5, incorporating $c_1[\langle aG^2 \rangle]$ into the description of the u = 2 cut. For the UV renormalon singularity at u = -1, we use $\bar{\gamma} = 1 2\beta_2/\beta_1^2$ in eq. (5.11), since it is known to be a double pole in the large- β_0 approximation.¹⁰

We are thus led to the ansatz:

$$B[\widehat{D}](u) = B[\widehat{D}_1^{\text{UV}}](u) + B[\widehat{D}_2^{\text{IR}}](u) + B[\widehat{D}_3^{\text{IR}}](u) + d_0^{\text{PO}} + d_1^{\text{PO}}u, \qquad (6.1)$$

where the first three terms use (5.6) and (5.10) as building blocks for the three leading renormalon singularities.¹¹ The model (6.1) depends on five parameters, the three residua of the renormalon poles, d_1^{UV} , d_2^{IR} and d_3^{IR} , as well as the two polynomial parameters d_0^{PO} and d_1^{PO} . To fix these parameters, we match the perturbative expansion of our model to the known coefficients $c_{n,1}$ of eqs. (2.13), (2.15) and (3.10). First, the residua are fixed using the coefficients $c_{3,1}$, $c_{4,1}$ and $c_{5,1}$, and then the polynomial coefficients are adjusted to also reproduce the first two orders $c_{1,1}$ and $c_{2,1}$. The motivation for also making use of the fifth datum, namely the estimate for the coefficient $c_{5,1} = 283$, as well as including the polynomial terms, is that we wish to avoid fixing the residue of a renormalon term by using orders as low as n = 2. However, as we discuss below, our result is surprisingly independent of this extra assumption.

Following the outlined procedure, the parameters of the model (6.1) are found to be:

$$d_1^{\rm UV} = -1.56 \cdot 10^{-2}, \qquad d_2^{\rm IR} = 3.16, \qquad d_3^{\rm IR} = -13.5,$$
 (6.2)

¹¹A similar approach to the heavy quark mass has been put forward in refs. [45, 46].

$c_{6,1}$	$c_{7,1}$	$c_{8,1}$	$c_{9,1}$	$c_{10,1}$	$c_{11,1}$	$c_{12,1}$
3275	$1.88\cdot 10^4$	$3.88\cdot 10^5$	$9.19\cdot 10^5$	$8.37\cdot 10^7$	$-5.19\cdot10^8$	$3.38\cdot 10^{10}$

Table 2: Predictions for the Adler-function coefficients $c_{6,1}$ to $c_{12,1}$ from our model (6.1) for B[R](u), employing the estimate for the coefficient $c_{5,1} = 283$ of eq. (3.10).

¹⁰The additional "1" arises from the anomalous dimension term $\gamma_{O_d}^{(1)}/\beta_1$ in eq. (5.11) related to a fourquark operator [38].



Figure 6: Results for $\widehat{D}(M_{\tau}^2)$ (full circles) at $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.34$, employing the higher-order coefficients $c_{n,1}$ of table 2 obtained from our model (6.1), as a function of the order n up to which the terms in the perturbative series have been summed. The straight line represents the result for the Borel sum of the series, and the shaded band provides an error estimate inferred from the complex ambiguity.

$$d_0^{\rm PO} = 0.781, \qquad d_1^{\rm PO} = 7.66 \cdot 10^{-3}.$$

The fact that the parameter d_1^{PO} turns out to be so small implies that the coefficient $c_{2,1}$ is already reasonably well described by the renormalon pole contribution, although it was not used to fix the residua. Another implication of this observation will be discussed below. With the Borel transform thus determined, we are now in the position to investigate the higher-order coefficients. The perturbative series of the Adler function up to $c_{12,1}$ is presented in table 2. We observe that the first negative coefficient is found at the 11th order, after which the series retains its sign-alternating behaviour. The successive approximations to the (reduced) Adler function $\hat{D}(M_{\tau}^2)$ defined in (4.4) are displayed in figure 6, which shows that the model is well-behaved: the series goes through a number of small terms at order n = 4 to 7, the minimal term being reached at n = 5, such that the truncated series agrees nicely with its Borel sum. The sign-alternating UV renormalon divergence takes over around n = 10.

To gain further insight into the contribution of a certain renormalon singularity to the coefficients $c_{n,1}$, in table 3 the relative contributions (in %) for the two IR and the UV

	$c_{3,1}$	$c_{4,1}$	$c_{5,1}$	$c_{6,1}$	$c_{7,1}$	$c_{8,1}$	$c_{9,1}$	$c_{10,1}$	$c_{11,1}$	$c_{12,1}$
IR_2	82.4	100.4	135.9	97.5	155.9	76.3	359.9	48.3	-103.6	22.9
IR_3	28.7	-10.0	-20.2	-13.3	-17.3	-6.5	-23.2	-2.3	3.6	-0.6
UV_1	-11.2	9.7	-15.6	15.8	-38.6	30.3	-236.7	54.0	200.0	77.7

Table 3: Relative contributions (in %) of the different IR and UV renormalon poles to the Adlerfunction coefficients $c_{3,1}$ to $c_{12,1}$.



Figure 7: Results for $\delta_{\text{FO}}^{(0)}$ (full circles) and $\delta_{\text{CI}}^{(0)}$ (grey circles) at $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.34$, employing the higher-order coefficients $c_{n,1}$ of table 2 obtained from our model (6.1), as a function of the order n up to which the terms in the perturbative series have been summed. The straight line represents the result for the Borel sum of the series, and the shaded band provides an error estimate inferred from the complex ambiguity.

pole are displayed. As can be seen from table 3, already for the third order there is a reasonable dominance of the leading IR renormalon at u = 2, and a sizeable but not too large contribution of the second one at u = 3. For the next few orders the leading IR pole becomes even more dominant as it should. Then, after a region of cancellations between the leading IR and UV poles, the leading UV renormalon, which dictates the large order behaviour, takes over. Nevertheless, already at the fifth order, the last we have included in fixing our parameters, with 16% there is a noticeable contribution from the UV renormalon, so that we have sensitivity to this term in the construction of the model.

Let us now move to the implications of our model (6.1) for the τ hadronic width, that is for $\delta^{(0)}$ in FOPT and CIPT. A graphical representation of the series behaviours is displayed in figure 7. Like in section 4, the full circles denote our result for $\delta^{(0)}_{FO}$ and the grey circles the one for $\delta^{(0)}_{CI}$, as a function of the order n up to which the perturbative series has been summed. The straight line corresponds to the principal value Borel sum of the series, and, like in figure 3 for the large- β_0 approximation, the shaded band provides an error estimate based on the imaginary part divided by π . The order at which the FO and CI series have their smallest terms is indicated by the grey diamonds. For CIPT this happens at the 7th and for FOPT at the 8th order. The essential conclusion is that the qualitative behaviour of the realistic series is determined by the features that were discussed in section 4 in the context of the p = 2 single-pole model. The cancellations between the Adler function coefficients $c_{n,1}$ and the contributions from the contour integral, g_n , soften the divergence of the R_{τ} series relative to the Adler function series shown in figure 6, allowing the FO series to approach the "true" result around its minimal term, after which the large-order asymptotic behaviour takes over. On the contrary, CIPT misses this cancellation and always stays much below the "true" result. If CIPT were used to determine α_s from the measured value of R_{τ} , i.e. $\delta^{(0)}$, a too large value of α_s would be extracted to compensate for the deficit. We emphasise that the clear preference for FOPT holds even if we discard all higher-order terms and use only the series up to n = 4, as can be seen from figure 7, provided the gross features of our ansatz are correct.¹²

Numerically, our central result for the Borel sum is found to be

$$\delta_{\rm BS}^{(0)} = 0.2371 \pm 0.0060 \, i \,. \tag{6.3}$$

Due to the suppression of the leading IR renormalon divergence by the contour integration, only one third of the imaginary part arises from the first IR pole, and two thirds from the second. This is consistent with the power-suppressed terms in the OPE, where for R_{τ} the $1/M_{\tau}^6$ terms dominate over the $1/M_{\tau}^4$ terms for the same reasons. The ambiguity that our procedure assigns to the "true" value is also of order of the power corrections as discussed in section 7. At the order of its minimal term, the FOPT result reads $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)} = 0.2353$ with a minimal term of 0.0011. Thus, the difference of the Borel sum and the supposedly best result for $\delta_{\rm FO}^{(0)}$ is about 1.6 times the minimal term, and the imaginary ambiguity divided by π precisely is able to account for this difference. Thus, our ansatz passes the requirements for a sensible asymptotic series and OPE expansion. In the remainder of this section, we shall make further checks as to the robustness of the prediction for $\delta^{(0)}$ from our model for $B[\hat{D}](u)$, and we estimate the uncertainty of our value for $\delta_{\rm BS}^{(0)}$ given in (6.3).

Our first test consists in dropping $c_{5,1}$ as an input, and instead using $c_{2,1}$ to determine the residua of the renormalon poles. In this case we set $d_1^{\text{PO}} = 0$, since we have only four data to fix the parameters. The visual appearance of the corresponding plot for $\delta^{(0)}$ is indistinguishable from figure 7, so we do not show it again. Also numerically, with $\delta_{\text{BS}}^{(0)} = 0.2370 \pm 0.0061 i$, we have practically the same result as in our main model. However, now we are in a position to predict the coefficient $c_{5,1}$, with the surprising result $c_{5,1} = 280$, almost the same as our naive estimate (3.10) that was used as an input before. This outcome was already anticipated by the fact that for our main model (6.1), d_1^{PO} (which we now set to 0) turned out to be very small. However, when one breaks down $c_{2,1}$ into the contributions from the different renormalon terms, one finds that the IR pole at u = 3is twice as important as the leading IR pole, so the agreement with the previous ansatz might be fortuitous. For this reason, we prefer to base our discussion on an estimate of $c_{5,1}$, despite the obvious drawback of having to rely on an additional assumption.

Another modification to corroborate our assumptions and the findings for the main model is to add a third IR renormalon pole at u = 4, again only adding one constant d_0^{PO} , and fitting the parameters to the first five perturbative coefficients. Hence, like in the last model, the coefficient $c_{2,1}$ influences the residua of the renormalon poles. The numerical outcome is $\delta_{\text{BS}}^{(0)} = 0.2377 \pm 0.0065 i$, once more only a slight shift compared to (6.3). The small change in the complex ambiguity only originates from the first two IR poles with almost no contribution from the third. Also graphically, no difference would be visible in comparison to figure 7. When inspecting the separate pole contributions, the third IR pole

¹²Further insights into the origin of the difference between $\delta_{CI}^{(0)}$ and $\delta_{BS}^{(0)}$ can be found in appendix B.

mainly contributes to the first and second coefficient. For $c_{3,1}$, we are left with a small 5% contribution, and beyond the third order, the IR pole at u = 4 is completely negligible. Thus, our assumptions on the relevant singularities appear to be justified.

Two further sources of uncertainty in our result (6.3) arise from the dependence on the estimate of the coefficient $c_{5,1}$, which is not exactly known, and from neglecting higher order running effects beyond β_4 , where the β -function coefficients are not known. In view of the fact that $c_{5,1}$ turned out extremely stable when it was predicted above from our model, to estimate the corresponding uncertainty, we think it is a save choice to vary $c_{5,1}$ by $\pm 50\%$. This results in variations of (± 0.0042 , ± 0.0030) in the real and imaginary part of $\delta_{\rm BS}^{(0)}$, respectively, with no qualitative change in the behaviours of the FOPT and CIPT series relative to figure 7.¹³ To get an idea about the importance of higher order running effects, we can set β_4 , \bar{b}_2 and \tilde{b}_2 to zero, and check how much our result changes. This results in a (-0.0021, -0.0011) variation of $\delta_{\rm BS}^{(0)}$. Adding both variations in quadrature, we arrive at our final result for $\delta_{\rm BS}^{(0)}$ including uncertainties,

$$\delta_{\rm BS}^{(0)} = (0.2371 \pm 0.0047) \pm (0.0060 \pm 0.0032) \, i \,, \tag{6.4}$$

which will be used in the next section for our determination of α_s from the hadronic τ decay width. This should be compared to the perturbative corrections from eqs. (3.8) and (3.9), which give 0.2200 (0.2288) in FOPT and 0.1984 (0.2021) in CIPT when the series is truncated at n = 4 (n = 5).

Note that there is no uncertainty due to scale- or scheme-dependence in the usual sense, since we are considering a series to all orders that is formally scale- and schemeindependent. A question that can be asked, however, is whether our ansatz for the Borel transform would still be meaningful and lead to the same results regarding the validity of FOPT and CIPT, if the input data $c_{n,1}$, $n \leq 5$, were given in another scheme for α_s than the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme or at another scale. This is not obvious, but it is not clear what conclusions should be drawn from this. An arbitrary scheme change can produce arbitrary irregularities in the input data, making any attempt to merge low with high orders meaningless. Similarly, a scheme change defined by the relation $1/\alpha_s = 1/\alpha_s^{\overline{\text{MS}}} + \beta_1 C/(2\pi)$ would produce an additional factor $\exp(-Cu)$ in the new Borel transform, which changes the renormalon residues and therefore the balance between contributions from the different leading singularities. With no guidance at hand, we adopt the point of view that the $\overline{\rm MS}$ scheme has proven useful and stable in so many applications of perturbative QCD that there is little motivation to consider significant departures. Nevertheless, to acquire an estimate of the model dependence of our approach, in the next section we also fit our model parameters to the Adler function coefficients which correspond to the expansion in the strong coupling evaluated at a scale $\alpha_s(\xi M_{\tau})$, and determine the impact of this variation on the α_s determination. With such variations, the strength of the leading UV renormalon is modified as compared to the lowest IR renormalon pole. For $\xi < 1$ the

¹³This remains true for larger variations of $c_{5,1}$. However, for $c_{5,1} = 0$ or negative, large cancellations between the two IR renormalon poles are required in our model to produce such small $c_{5,1}$ and the assumption to fit the low orders with only a few renormalon singularities becomes questionable.

leading UV renormalon becomes stronger, leading to an earlier onset of the asymptotic regime, while for $\xi > 1$ it is suppressed, which imposes limitations on sensible values of ξ .

7. Determination of α_s

The starting point for a determination of α_s from hadronic τ decays is eq. (1.2) for the decay rate of the τ lepton into light u and d quarks. The general strategy for our extraction of α_s below will be as follows. We concentrate on the sum of the vector and axialvector channels, $R_{\tau,V+A}$, as in this case some of the higher-dimensional operator contributions cancel. A more elaborate analysis of the separate channels along the lines of refs. [7, 8, 9] employing moments of the τ decay spectral function is left for the future. We expect significantly larger perturbative corrections and ambiguities for the moments, along with the enhanced condensate contributions, which makes the α_s analysis more complicated. We base our analysis on FOPT, and FOPT together with the ansatz for higher-order terms of section 6, but do not use CIPT, despite the fact that the CI perturbation series appears to be better behaved in low orders. The reason is that the analysis in the previous sections shows that the better stability and smaller scale dependence of CIPT reflects the plateau of the CIPT curve in figure 7, but the plateau value of the perturbative correction is far from the true value. In such a situation, theoretical error estimates based on scale dependence provide a very large underestimate of the true uncertainty.

The first step of the α_s analysis consists in estimating the values of the power corrections $\delta_{ud,V+A}^{(D)}$ in eq. (1.2), which arise from higher-dimensional operators in the framework of the OPE. The power corrections will be calculated in FOPT.¹⁴ Given these estimates and experimental data, we calculate a phenomenological value of $\delta^{(0)}$ using eq. (1.2). We then determine the value of $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$ by requiring that the theoretical value $\delta_{\text{theo}}^{(0)}$ in FOPT, and in our model of section 6 matches the phenomenological value $\delta_{\text{phen}}^{(0)}$. Errors are estimated by varying all parameters within their uncertainties.

7.1 Estimate of power corrections

Before going through the estimation of the power corrections, let us remark that these will only be considered for the transversal part of the correlator $\Pi_{ud}^{V+A,(1+0)}(s)$. The longitudinal contribution $\delta_{ud,S+P}$ to $R_{\tau,V+A}$, arising from $\Pi_{ud}^{V+A,(0)}(s)$ which is related to scalar and pseudoscalar correlation functions, will be included later according to a phenomenological approach which was already employed in the determination of $|V_{us}|$ from R_{τ} [47, 48]. This approach has much smaller uncertainties than making use of the corresponding QCD expressions for the scalar/pseudoscalar light-quark correlators since their perturbative expansions converge substantially slower than those for the vector/axialvector correlation functions. With foresight, we shall use $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.3156 \pm 0.006$ in the numerical estimate of the power correction below.

¹⁴In principle, for quantities other than the purely perturbative corrections to the Adler function, the preference of FOPT over CIPT has to be investigated anew. However, the power corrections are already a small correction, and for our application the difference in treating the perturbative expansion of the Wilson coefficients is irrelevant.

The lowest-dimensional power corrections to $R_{\tau,V+A}$ are of dimension-2 and only arise from terms proportional to quark masses squared. Detailed expressions for these contributions were given in ref. [22, 49] up to order α_s^2 , and the next corrections at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ were first presented in ref. [50]. From these expressions we calculate the corresponding $\delta_{m^2,V+A}^{(2)}$ in FOPT. Contributions to this quantity arise from two sources: one is proportional to $(m_u^2 + m_d^2)$ and the other to m_s^2 . The second is due to internal strange-quark loops and only starts at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^2)$. While the perturbative series for the $(m_u^2 + m_d^2)$ term displays a reasonable convergence, the m_s^2 one is very badly behaved, such that in total the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ term is about a factor of three times the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^2)$ term. To estimate the uncertainty in $\delta_{m^2,V+A}^{(2)}$, we average the results either including or omitting the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ term, and take the spread as the error. For the quark masses we use $m_u(M_\tau) = 2.8 \pm 0.5$ MeV, $m_d(M_\tau) = 5.0 \pm 0.6$ MeV and $m_s(M_\tau) = 97 \pm 9$ MeV, which derive from ref. [51]. Also quadratically including the parametric uncertainties, which albeit play a minor role, yields

$$\delta_{m^2,V+A}^{(2)} = (3.1 \pm 8.6) \cdot 10^{-5} \,. \tag{7.1}$$

Although this contribution has a very large uncertainty, it will turn out to be immaterial for the α_s determination.

Dimension-4 contributions arise from three possible sources: the gluon condensate $\langle aG^2 \rangle$, the quark condensate $\langle \bar{q}q \rangle$, and m_q^4 corrections. (See e.g. ref. [22] and references therein for explicit expressions.) The quartic mass corrections are tiny, and thus we shall drop them. Furthermore, being suppressed by $1/s^2$ because of the weight function in R_{τ} , the contour integral is only non-vanishing if there are additional logarithms $\ln(-s)$, which first appear at order α_s^2 .¹⁵ The explicit expressions for the two contributions including the known terms are then found to be

$$\delta^{(4)}_{\langle G^2 \rangle, V+A} = \frac{11\pi^2}{4} a (M_\tau^2)^2 \frac{\langle aG^2 \rangle}{M_\tau^4}, \qquad (7.2)$$

$$\delta^{(4)}_{\langle \bar{q}q \rangle, V+A} = 54 \,\pi^2 \,\frac{(m_u + m_d) \langle \bar{q}q \rangle}{M_\tau^4} \left[a(M_\tau^2)^2 + \left(\frac{517}{36} - \frac{8}{3}\zeta_3 + \left(\frac{5}{6} - \frac{4}{3}\zeta_3\right) \kappa R_s \right) a^3 \right], \ (7.3)$$

where $\kappa \equiv \langle \bar{s}s \rangle / \langle \bar{q}q \rangle$, $R_s \equiv 2m_s/(m_u + m_d)$, and we have assumed isospin symmetry for the up and down quark condensates. Historically, the standard value for the gluon condensate is $\langle aG^2 \rangle = 0.012 \,\text{GeV}^4$ [52], and not much progress has been made since then. Therefore, it will be employed as our central value. As we only know the leading term for $\delta^{(4)}_{\langle G^2 \rangle, V+A}$, to be conservative, we assign a 100% uncertainty. For $\delta^{(4)}_{\langle \bar{q}q \rangle, V+A}$, the required quark condensate can be calculated from the GMOR relation [53, 54], with the result $\langle \bar{q}q \rangle (M_{\tau}) = -(272 \pm 15 \,\text{MeV})^3$. With 40%, the next-to-leading order α_s^3 correction is large, but still has perturbative character. Thus, we include this term and take its size as an estimate for the missing higher orders. Further employing $\kappa = 0.8 \pm 0.3$ [54], and the light quark masses from above, we obtain

$$\delta^{(4)}_{\langle G^2 \rangle, V+A} = (3.3 \pm 3.3) \cdot 10^{-4}, \qquad \delta^{(4)}_{\langle \bar{q}q \rangle, V+A} = (-4.9 \pm 6.2) \cdot 10^{-5}. \tag{7.4}$$

¹⁵This is yet another manifestation of the suppression of the leading IR renormalon at u = 2.

It may be remarked that the upper range of $\delta^{(4)}_{\langle G^2 \rangle, V+A}$ just corresponds to the complex ambiguity of the u = 2 renormalon pole divided by π in our all-order ansatz. It is gratifying to observe that they are of the same order of magnitude, giving support to the size of this term. Nevertheless, also the dimension-4 contributions only play a minor role in the determination of α_s .

At dimension six, $\delta_{ud,V+A}^{(D)}$ receives contributions from the three-gluon condensate $\langle g^3G^3 \rangle$, 4-quark operators, and lower-dimensional operators times appropriate powers of quark masses. The coefficient function of $\langle g^3G^3 \rangle$ vanishes at the leading order and is therefore suppressed. Also the operators which get multiplied by quark masses only give very small contributions. Thus we neglect these two types of contributions and concentrate on the 4-quark condensates. At leading order, one is confronted with three four-quark operators, while at higher orders many more are generated [3, 55, 56]. As it appears impossible to determine all required condensates from phenomenology, the so-called vacuum-saturation approximation (VSA) had been proposed [52]. This reduces all 4-quark condensates to squares of the quark condensate. With this simplifying assumption, the leading dimension-6 contribution takes the form

$$\delta^{(6)}_{\langle \bar{q}q\bar{q}q\rangle,V+A} = -\frac{512}{27} \pi^3 \alpha_s \frac{\rho \langle \bar{q}q \rangle^2}{M_\tau^6} = (-4.8 \pm 2.9) \cdot 10^{-3}, \qquad (7.5)$$

where we assume $\rho = 2 \pm 1$ for the numerical estimate. Our reasoning for this is as follows: VSA is incompatible with the scale and scheme dependence of the 4-quark operators [56, 57]. Therefore, it does not make sense to include the next-to-leading order corrections. Conventionally, one introduces the parameter ρ , which comprises the violation of the VSA. A rough idea about the size of the parameter ρ can be gleaned from phenomenological fits of the dimension-6 contributions to Π_{ud}^V , Π_{ud}^A , Π_{ud}^{V+A} , as well as Π_{ud}^{V-A} [7, 8, 9, 58] (and references therein). Comparing the phenomenological fits with the VSA, values for ρ from one to about three are found, which motivates the chosen range. At any rate, $\delta_{\langle \bar{q}q\bar{q}q \rangle, V+A}^{(6)}$ constitutes the dominant power correction.

We also include a crude estimate for the still higher-dimensional operator corrections. Not much is known about these contributions, apart from the fact that they should be suppressed as compared to $\delta^{(6)}_{\langle \bar{q}q\bar{q}q \rangle, V+A}$, since they carry at least two more powers of $1/M_{\tau}$. Inspecting the fits of refs. [7, 8, 9] where also a dimension-8 contribution was included, one infers that roughly it could be of order 10^{-3} . Therefore, we have added

$$\delta_{ud,V+A}^{(8)} = (0\pm 1) \cdot 10^{-3} \tag{7.6}$$

in our total estimate of the uncertainty for power corrections. There are potentially also (short-distance) instanton contributions to the τ hadronic width. The leading contribution of this type is a rapidly increasing and uncertain function of $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$. For $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.32$ it has been estimated to contribute $2 \cdot 10^{-3}$ to $\delta_{ud,V+A}^{(D)}$ [59]. Nonetheless, we do not include a further power correction uncertainty for this term.

To complete our summary of power corrections to R_{τ} , we still have to compute the longitudinal contributions which arise from scalar and pseudoscalar correlators. Because the perturbative series for these correlators do not converge very well, here we shall follow

the approach of refs. [47, 48]. The contribution from the scalar correlator is suppressed by a factor $(m_u - m_d)^2$, and it can be altogether neglected. The main idea then is to replace the QCD expressions for the pseudoscalar correlator by a phenomenological representation. The dominant contribution to the pseudoscalar spectral function stems from the well known pion pole, giving

$$\delta_{ud,S+P}^{\pi} = -16\pi^2 \frac{f_{\pi}^2 M_{\pi}^2}{M_{\tau}^4} \left(1 - \frac{M_{\pi}^2}{M_{\tau}^2}\right)^2, \qquad (7.7)$$

plus small corrections from higher-excited pionic resonances. Repeating the analysis of section 3 of ref. [47] and updating the input parameters, we find

$$\delta_{ud,S+P} = (-2.64 \pm 0.05) \cdot 10^{-3}.$$
(7.8)

The uncertainty in (7.8) has been estimated by setting the higher-resonance contribution to zero, which clearly demonstrates that the pion pole is dominant. Collecting all contributions, and adding the errors in quadrature, we arrive at our total estimate of all power corrections:

$$\delta_{\rm PC} = (-7.1 \pm 3.1) \cdot 10^{-3} \,. \tag{7.9}$$

Our value (7.9) is consistent with the most recent fit to the τ spectral functions performed in ref. [9].

As a matter of principle, the OPE of the correlation functions in the complex s plane, even when integrated over a suitable energy interval [25], could be inflicted with so-called "duality violations" [60]. In our case, these would come from the contour integral close to the physical region, and even though suppressed by a double zero, could lead to additional contributions or uncertainties. Within a model, these contributions were recently investigated for hadronic τ decays [61], and in ref. [9] the model was fitted to the τ spectral functions, with the finding that possible additional contributions are below the 10^{-3} level. In view of these results, we shall omit possible duality violating terms, but in future analyses which perform a simultaneous fit of higher order OPE contributions, in analogy to [9], it might be worthwhile to include them.

7.2 α_s analysis

Employing the value $R_{\tau,V+A} = 3.479 \pm 0.011$, which results from eq. (1.1) in conjunction with $R_{\tau,S} = 0.1615 \pm 0.0040$ [9], as well as $|V_{ud}| = 0.97418 \pm 0.00026$ [62], from eq. (1.2) the phenomenological value for $\delta^{(0)}$ can be derived after accounting for the electroweak corrections and subtracting the power correction given in eq. (7.9):

$$\delta_{\rm phen}^{(0)} = 0.2042 \pm 0.0038_{\rm exp} \pm 0.0033_{\rm PC} = 0.2042 \pm 0.0050.$$
 (7.10)

By far the dominant experimental uncertainty is due to $R_{\tau,V+A}$. In the second error, we have also included the ones from $S_{\rm EW}$ and $\delta'_{\rm EW}$ which should be considered theoretical (though they are not power corrections). The final step in the extraction of $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$ now consists in finding the values of α_s for which the phenomenological value $\delta^{(0)}_{\rm phen}$ matches the theoretical prediction, either from the finite order series, or from our model to all orders. Let us begin by analysing the impact of using FOPT when the perturbative expansion is employed up to and including the fifth order. Besides the exactly known coefficients, we make use of our value (3.10), $c_{5,1} = 283$, and to estimate the corresponding uncertainty, we have either removed or doubled the fifth order term. A further theoretical error is added to account for the residual renormalisation scale dependence of the fixed order series. We estimate this by expressing the FO series in terms of $a(\mu^2)$ rather than $a(M_{\tau}^2)$ and by varying μ between 1 GeV and 2.5 GeV. Going through this procedure, and keeping the errors separate to clearly see the importance of the various contributing uncertainties, we obtain:

$$\alpha_s(M_\tau) = 0.3203 \pm 0.0032_{\text{exp}} \pm 0.0028_{\text{PC}} \pm 0.0027_{c_{5,1}} \stackrel{+0.0105}{_{-0.0052}} \text{(scale)}$$
$$= 0.320 \pm 0.003_{\text{exp}} \stackrel{+0.011}{_{-0.006}} \text{(th)} = 0.320 \stackrel{+0.012}{_{-0.007}}. \tag{7.11}$$

Comparing our result (7.11) with other determinations of $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$ from hadronic τ decays [9, 18] that include the exact fourth order term, we observe that our value is smaller by 0.012 [18] and 0.024 [9], up to twice the estimated error. This should not come as a surprise since the analysis of ref. [9] relied on the use of CIPT, which increases $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$, see figure 7, while in ref. [18] an average of FOPT and CIPT is performed. The error in eq. (7.11) is dominated by the scale error, which is significantly larger than in CIPT.¹⁶ However, as argued above, we find that the small scale-dependence in CIPT is misleading when interpreted as a measure of the theoretical uncertainty.

We evolve $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$ to the Z-boson mass scale, using the β -function known to four loops [63, 64], and the matching coefficients at flavour thresholds up to order α_s^3 [65].¹⁷ The central values of the flavour thresholds $\mu_c^* = 3.729 \,\text{GeV}$ and $\mu_b^* = 10.558 \,\text{GeV}$ are taken to correspond to the physical thresholds of open D and B meson production. In the matching coefficients also the charm and bottom quark masses are required, which we assume to be $m_c(m_c) = 1.28 \pm 0.05 \,\text{GeV}$ and $m_b(m_b) = 4.20 \pm 0.05 \,\text{GeV}$ [67] in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ -scheme. The uncertainties resulting from the evolution are estimated as follows: like in section 6, we compare to consistent 3-loop running, i.e. setting $\beta_4 = 0$ and removing the $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ coefficient in the matching relation, and we vary the quark masses as well as the flavour thresholds in the ranges $\mu_c^*/2 < \mu_c < 2\mu_c^*$ and $\mu_b^*/2 < \mu_b < 2\mu_b^*$. Adding all uncertainties in quadrature, we arrive at:

$$\alpha_s(M_Z) = 0.1185 \pm 0.0004_{\exp} + \substack{+0.0013 \\ -0.0008} \text{ (th)} \pm 0.0002_{\text{evol}}$$
$$= 0.1185 + \substack{+0.0014 \\ -0.0009} \text{.} \tag{7.12}$$

Again, this value is lower than previous results from hadronic τ decays, but it is in perfect agreement with the global averages of $\alpha_s(M_Z)$ [1, 2].

¹⁶The scale variation has a minimum at the scale $\mu \approx 1.22 \text{ GeV}$, which might therefore be considered as an "optimal" scale. It is amusing to note that evaluating α_s at this scale, we obtain $\alpha_s(M_\tau) = 0.3151$, very close to the improved result (7.13).

¹⁷The evolution has been performed independently with the Mathematica package RunDec [66] and a private routine coded by one of us (MJ), finding complete agreement.

To further improve our determination of α_s , we now include the higher order perturbative terms according to our model of section 6. To this end, we need to find the value of α_s such the value of the Borel sum $\delta_{BS}^{(0)}$ matches the phenomenological value (7.10).¹⁸ Again keeping the contributing uncertainties separate, we find:

$$\alpha_s(M_\tau) = 0.3156 \pm 0.0030_{\text{exp}} \pm 0.0026_{\text{PC}} \pm 0.0025_{c_{5,1}} \pm 0.0011_{\beta_4=0} {}^{+0.0034}_{-0.0029} \text{ (scale)}$$
$$= 0.3156 \pm 0.0030_{\text{exp}} \pm 0.0051_{\text{th}} = 0.3156 \pm 0.0059.$$
(7.13)

Besides the uncertainties already discussed previously, in eq. (7.13) we have also included a scale/model uncertainty according to the reasoning put forward at the end of section 6. As the scale variation, we chose $0.5 < \xi^2 < 1.5$, where $\mu \equiv \xi M_{\tau}$. (The corresponding scale interval is $1.26 \,\text{GeV} < \mu < 2.18 \,\text{GeV}$.) The employed range in ξ is dictated by the observation that for lower scales the contribution of the leading UV renormalon is enhanced as compared to the leading IR renormalon pole, while for larger scales it is suppressed. At the lower end for ξ , the contribution of the leading UV renormalon to the coefficient $c_{3,1}$ is of a similar size than the leading IR renormalon, while at the upper end, we are only left with a mere 3 % contribution of the first UV renormalon to the coefficient $c_{5,1}$, practically losing the sensitivity to this contribution. Therefore, beyond the used range for ξ , our model ceases to make sense. For given ξ , we determine $\alpha_s(\xi M_{\tau})$ such that the value (7.10) is obtained and then evolve back to the scale M_{τ} . In quoting the final uncertainty of $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$, in (7.13) we have used the larger scale variation in order to have a symmetric final error. The dependence of the successive perturbative approximations to R_{τ} on the choice of ξ is shown in figure 8, upper panel. The lower panel shows the corresponding approximations in CIPT, which are again seen to lie below the "true" result for any reasonable value of ξ .

Evolving the result (7.13) to the Z-boson mass scale, we arrive at our final value for $\alpha_s(M_Z)$:

$$\alpha_s(M_Z) = 0.11795 \pm 0.00038_{\text{exp}} \pm 0.00063_{\text{th}} \pm 0.00020_{\text{evol}}$$
$$= 0.11795 \pm 0.00076.$$
(7.14)

This result is slightly smaller than eq. (7.12) based on the FOPT up to the fifth order as could be anticipated from figure 7, where one observes that $\delta^{(0)}$ at $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^5)$ is smaller than the full Borel sum. We consider eq. (7.14) as our best estimate of the strong coupling in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme from hadronic τ decays.

8. Conclusions

Hadronic τ decays provide an especially clean environment for the study of QCD effects and in particular the determination of QCD parameters. Of prime interest in this respect is the QCD coupling α_s . Still, due to the relatively low scale M_{τ} , an adequate control over the perturbative series should be achieved for such applications. Besides explicitly

¹⁸We do not include a separate error from the ambiguity of $\delta_{BS}^{(0)}$ (at $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.3156$: $\delta_{BS}^{(0)} = 0.2042 \pm 0.0029 i$), since it is subsumed in the error of δ_{PC} , which is several times larger.



Figure 8: Results for $\delta_{\text{FO}}^{(0)}$ (full circles, diamonds, triangles) and $\delta_{\text{CI}}^{(0)}$ (grey circles, diamonds, triangles) for the model of eq. (6.1) as a function of the order n up to which the terms in the perturbative series have been summed. The parameters of the model are fit to the first five coefficients of the Adler function expanded in $\alpha_s(\xi\sqrt{s})$ as described in section 6. The value of $\alpha_s(\xi M_{\tau})$ is determined by requiring that the Borel sum equals $\delta_{\text{phen}}^{(0)} = 0.2042$ in each case.

computing terms in the perturbative expansion, progress in this direction can be attained by inspecting the renormalon divergence structure that the perturbative series should have on general grounds.

A long-standing question in the interpretation of the QCD correction to R_{τ} is a numerical discrepancy between two ways of performing the renormalisation group improvement, namely CIPT and FOPT. While CIPT resums running effects of α_s along the complex integration contour which are known to be large, FOPT performs a consistent expansion in α_s at each loop order. The CIPT sum is significantly below the FOPT sum requiring a larger strong coupling to reproduce the experimental R_{τ} . Resolving this discrepancy has become a major issue for improving the accuracy of the α_s determination from R_{τ} , in particular since recently the fourth order coefficient of the series expansion has been computed [18], and further terms cannot be expected to be available any time soon.

CIPT has long been considered as the method of choice due to its apparent better convergence and smaller renormalisation scale dependence of the truncated series as compared to FOPT. However, the argument that FOPT should be discarded, since the expansion of the running coupling along the contour produces a series of finite radius of convergence that is avoided in CIPT, does not take into account that both the CIPT and FOPT series have zero radius of convergence anyway due to factorial divergence in higher orders. This leads to interesting cancellations between the Adler function coefficients and running coupling effects [17]. Having a sufficiently large number of exact Adler function coefficients at our disposal, and without prospects of further improvements by exact computations, makes it timely and possible to attempt to merge the exactly known terms with what is known on general grounds about large-order behaviour, and to reinvestigate the conceptual issues of the FOPT/CIPT comparison.

We investigated several toy models to find out under which circumstances FOPT or CIPT provide a better approximation to the "true" result, which we may define as the Borel sum of the series, since power corrections to R_{τ} are small. Two extreme cases can be singled out. If the Adler function coefficients are set to zero beyond a certain order, CIPT becomes exact, while FOPT performs large oscillations around the exact result [19]. On the other hand, if the Adler function series is dominated by an infrared renormalon at u = 2, large cancellations occur in the R_{τ} series, which are only manifest in FOPT. In this case, FOPT accounts well for the Borel sum, while CIPT stays systematically below, despite an apparent better convergence and smaller scale dependence!

Taking these lessons we constructed a realistic ansatz for the entire Borel transform of the Adler function such that the exactly known coefficients plus an estimate of the fifth order coefficient are exactly reproduced, while including knowledge about the leading three renormalon singularities. Given the regularity of the exactly known low-order terms, the weight of the three contributions was fit to the four- to six-loop terms. With our central model of eq. (6.1) we were able to achieve a very coherent picture of the known and higher order coefficients. Our main conclusion from a study of the realistic model is that, given the particular features of the R_{τ} series, FOPT provides the better approximation, in general and at fourth order, than CIPT and is to be preferred on these grounds. In this respect the full QCD case resembles the large- β_0 approximation discussed in ref. [17].

We believe this conclusion to be valid in QCD beyond particular models, since it is based on generic properties of the R_{τ} perturbation series – although it must be admitted that statements about the accuracy of FOPT and CIPT, and the validity of perturbation theory in higher orders in general, are always open to some amount of speculation. The main point is that conventional wisdom that favours CIPT is based on the first three orders in perturbation theory when the running coupling effects in g_n dominate over the Adler function coefficients $c_{n,1}$. This dominance weakens as n grows, as can be seen from the known exact coefficients, and the situation is expected to reverse beyond n = 5. The fact that the $c_{n,1}$ ultimately diverge, cannot be ignored. This as well as the crucial $1/n^2$ cancellation in the sum $c_{n,1} + g_n$ for the leading non-sign-alternating component of the R_{τ} perturbation series are model-independent consequences of QCD.

Making use of these results, two determinations of the strong coupling α_s from $R_{\tau,V+A}$ were presented in section 7. First, we performed a conventional FOPT analysis based on the fourth-order result plus an estimate of the fifth order, whose size is taken as an uncertainty. The resulting value for $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$ can be found in eq. (7.11). Evolving to M_Z , we obtain

$$\alpha_s(M_Z) = 0.1185^{+0.0014}_{-0.0009} \quad (FOPT), \qquad (8.1)$$

where the error is dominated by residual renormalisation scale dependence; see eq. (7.12). This value is lower than those presented in refs. [9, 18] mainly because we propose to not use CIPT as the result of our study. Our preferred and best result is obtained by incorporating available structural information on the large-order behaviour as embodied in the model of eq. (6.1). The resulting value for $\alpha_s(M_{\tau})$ can be found in eq. (7.13). Evolving it to M_Z , the main result of our paper reads:

$$\alpha_s(M_Z) = 0.11795 \pm 0.00038_{\text{exp}} \pm 0.00063_{\text{th}} \pm 0.00020_{\text{evol}}$$
$$= 0.11795 \pm 0.00076.$$
(8.2)

Our approach towards the investigation of the higher-order behaviour of perturbative series employed in this work can certainly also be applied to other quantities of interest, like the scalar correlation function, mass squared corrections to R_{τ} , or moments of the spectral functions. It should be interesting to see what can be said about the issue of renormalisation group resummation when contour integrations are involved in these cases. We shall return to this question in the near future. Finally, our results can be useful in other places where the QCD Adler function plays a role.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Santi Peris, Toni Pich, Antonio Pineda, Ximo Prades and Felix Schwab for interesting discussions. We also thank our referee for an interesting question which we answer in appendix B. This work has been supported in parts by the EU Contract No. MRTN-CT-2006-035482 (FLAVIAnet) (MB, MJ), by CICYT-FEDER-FPA2005-02211 (MJ), by Spanish Consolider-Ingenio 2010 Programme CPAN (CSD2007-00042) (MJ), as well as by the DFG Sonderforschungsbereich/Transregio 9 "Computer-gestützte Theoretische Teilchenphysik" (MB).

Appendix A: Borel integral for renormalon poles

In this appendix, we provide a few useful expressions for the Borel integral of generic renormalon poles, and the corresponding complex ambiguity in the case of IR renormalons.

Let us begin with a general UV-renormalon pole which we assume to have the form:

$$B[R_p^{\rm UV}](u) \equiv \frac{d_p^{\rm UV}}{(p+u)^{\gamma}},\tag{A.1}$$

where $u = \beta_0 t$ with $\beta_0 \equiv \beta_1/(2\pi)$, $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}^+$. Then, the corresponding Borel integral is given by

$$R_p^{\rm UV}(\alpha) = d_p^{\rm UV} \int_0^\infty \frac{\mathrm{e}^{-t/\alpha}}{(p+\beta_0 t)^\gamma} \,\mathrm{d}t\,,\tag{A.2}$$

which after the substitution $t = \alpha z - p/\beta_0$ can be expressed in terms of the incomplete Γ -function:

$$R_p^{\rm UV}(\alpha) = d_p^{\rm UV} \frac{\alpha}{(\beta_0 \alpha)^{\gamma}} e^{p/(\beta_0 \alpha)} \int_{p/(\beta_0 \alpha)}^{\infty} z^{-\gamma} e^{-z} dz = d_p^{\rm UV} \frac{\alpha}{(\beta_0 \alpha)^{\gamma}} e^{p/(\beta_0 \alpha)} \Gamma\left(1 - \gamma, \frac{p}{\beta_0 \alpha}\right).$$
(A.3)

Expanding the UV-renormalon pole ansatz (A.1), and performing the Borel integration term by term, yields the corresponding perturbative expansion:

$$R_p^{\rm UV}(\alpha) = \frac{d_p^{\rm UV}}{p^{\gamma} \Gamma(\gamma)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Gamma(n+\gamma) \left(-\frac{\beta_0}{p}\right)^n \alpha^{n+1}.$$
 (A.4)

For the general IR-renormalon pole, let us assume the generic form:

$$B[R_p^{\rm IR}](u) \equiv \frac{d_p^{\rm IR}}{(p-u)^{\gamma}}, \qquad (A.5)$$

where again $u = \beta_0 t, p \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}^+$. The corresponding Borel integral is given by

$$R_p^{\rm IR}(\alpha) = d_p^{\rm IR} \int_0^\infty \frac{e^{-t/\alpha}}{(p-\beta_0 t)^{\gamma}} \,\mathrm{d}t\,, \qquad (A.6)$$

and can be expressed in terms of the exponential integral function $E_{\gamma}(z)$. However, because of the singularity at $t = p/\beta_0$ and the branch cut for $t > p/\beta_0$, we still have to specify the defining integration path. We shall integrate on the real axis up to $t = p/\beta_0 - \varepsilon$, then on a semicircle of radius ε in a clockwise, or anti-clockwise direction, and finally again along the real axis from $t = p/\beta_0 + \varepsilon$ up to infinity, either above or below the cut, taking the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ in the end. Performing all integrals, this leads to the expression:

$$R_p^{\mathrm{IR}}(\alpha) = d_p^{\mathrm{IR}} \frac{\alpha}{(\beta_0 \alpha)^{\gamma}} e^{-p/(\beta_0 \alpha)} \left\{ -\left(\frac{p}{\beta_0 \alpha}\right)^{1-\gamma} \mathrm{E}_{\gamma} \left(-\frac{p}{\beta_0 \alpha}\right) + \left[(-1)^{\pm \gamma} - (-1)^{\mathrm{sig}(\mathrm{Im}[\alpha])\gamma} \right] \Gamma(1-\gamma) \right\}.$$
 (A.7)

In the above equation, $(-1)^z$ should be interpreted as $\exp(i\pi z)$, and the function $\operatorname{sig}(z)$ represents the sign of z, with the additional definition $\operatorname{sig}(0) \equiv 1$. The imaginary ambiguity of $R_p^{\operatorname{IR}}(\alpha)$ can be readily computed from eq. (A.7), and for $\alpha > 0$ turns out to be:

$$\operatorname{Im}\left[R_{p}^{\mathrm{IR}}(\alpha)\right] = \pm \frac{d_{p}^{\mathrm{IR}}}{\beta_{0}^{\gamma}} \sin(\pi\gamma) \Gamma(1-\gamma) \alpha^{1-\gamma} e^{-p/(\beta_{0}\alpha)}.$$
(A.8)

We can also straightforwardly obtain the perturbative expansion of $R_p^{\text{IR}}(\alpha)$, which reads:

$$R_p^{\rm IR}(\alpha) = \frac{d_p^{\rm IR}}{p^{\gamma} \Gamma(\gamma)} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Gamma(n+\gamma) \left(\frac{\beta_0}{p}\right)^n \alpha^{n+1}.$$
 (A.9)

These results can be used to construct analytic expressions for our models, which can all be decomposed into polynomials and a sum of poles of the above form.

Appendix B: Adler function in the complex *s*-plane

Further understanding of the origin for the difference of $\delta^{(0)}$ as calculated within FOPT or CIPT can be gained by inspecting the reduced Adler function $\hat{D}(s)$ on the circle $s = M_{\tau}^2 e^{i\varphi}$ in the complex *s*-plane. From the general perturbative expansion (2.10) it is clear that the ambiguity in the choice of the RG resummation already exists in this case. Analogous to the discussion of section 3 for R_{τ} , FOPT is defined by employing the constant scale choice $\mu^2 = M_{\tau}^2$, while CIPT corresponds to a resummation of the series on each point of the circle separately through the variable choice $\mu^2 = -s = -M_{\tau}^2 e^{i\varphi}$. The perturbative expansions for \hat{D} as a function of the angle φ in the two cases take the form:

$$\widehat{D}_{\rm FO}(\varphi) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} a (M_{\tau}^2)^n \sum_{k=1}^n k \, c_{n,k} \, [\, i(\varphi - \pi)]^{k-1} \,, \tag{B.1}$$

$$\widehat{D}_{\mathrm{CI}}(\varphi) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_{n,1} a (-M_{\tau}^2 \mathrm{e}^{i\varphi})^n \,. \tag{B.2}$$

In figure 9, we display a graphical account of our numerical results for the real parts $\operatorname{Re}[\widehat{D}_{\mathrm{FO}}(\varphi)]$ and $\operatorname{Re}[\widehat{D}_{\mathrm{CI}}(\varphi)]$ in the range $0 < \varphi < 2\pi$ and for $\alpha_s(M_\tau) = 0.3156$. We have drawn four different lines corresponding to a truncation of the perturbative series at the 4th (dotted line), 5th (dashed-double-dotted line), 6th (dashed-dotted line) and 7th (dashed line) order. In addition, the solid line corresponds to a resummation of the perturbative series according to the Borel sum of the physical model for the Adler function introduced in section 6. The required perturbative coefficients $c_{6,1}$ and $c_{7,1}$ for this model are given in table 2. The reason for showing the summation of the series up to n = 7 lies in the fact that the smallest summand of both series is found in this range.

Various observations can be made on the basis of figure 9. First of all, as can also be seen from eqs. (B.1) and (B.2), at the euclidian point $\varphi = \pi$ on the negative real *s*-axis, $\hat{D}_{\rm FO}$ and $\hat{D}_{\rm CI}$ are identical. The closest approach of the partial sums to the Borel sum for $\varphi = \pi$ is reached at the 6th order (compare figure 6). Close to the minkowskian region (the positive real *s*-axis), that is φ near zero or 2π , FOPT converges rather slowly, and only at the 7th order, the series approaches the shape displayed by the Borel sum. The slow convergence of FOPT close to the minkowskian region has already been noted in ref. [9], and was taken as an argument that CIPT should be preferable. Indeed, as is obvious from the lower plot of figure 9, CIPT converges very nicely for all angles and mostly even better for φ not near π than at the euclidian point. However, the resulting sums do not at all



Figure 9: The real parts $\operatorname{Re}[\widehat{D}_{\mathrm{FO}}(\varphi)]$ and $\operatorname{Re}[\widehat{D}_{\mathrm{CI}}(\varphi)]$ of eqs. (B.1) and (B.2) for a summation of the perturbative series up to four different orders, namely the 4th (dotted line), 5th (dashed-double-dotted line), 6th (dashed-dotted line) and 7th (dashed line) order. The input for the QCD coupling was chosen to be $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}) = 0.3156$. Also displayed as the solid line is the Borel sum $\operatorname{Re}[\widehat{D}_{\mathrm{BS}}(\varphi)]$ according to our physical model presented in section 6.

approach the shape of the Borel sum. Thus, except at a few isolated points, CIPT for the Adler function in the complex plane exhibits a similar problem as for R_{τ} , shown in figure 7, that the series exhibits apparent convergence and stability, but the resultant value is much further from the "true result" than any theoretical error estimate would suggest. For the Adler function CIPT lies below the Borel sum in the central region and above elsewhere, while for R_{τ} the weight function $(1-x)^3(1+x)$ with $x = e^{i\varphi}$ in the integration over the angle φ implies that $\delta_{\text{CI}}^{(0)}$ is below the Borel sum $\delta_{\text{BS}}^{(0)}$ as found in section 6. On the other hand, FOPT turns out to be much closer to the Borel sum, since the problematic region close to the minkowskian axis is strongly suppressed in R_{τ} by the triple zero of the kinematical weight function at $s = M_{\tau}^2$. The problems with CIPT for the Adler function in the complex plane arise essentially for the same reason as for R_{τ} . In FOPT at each order we observe sizeable cancellations between the independent coefficients $c_{n,1}$ and the running effects which are missed by CIPT, although here, due to the angular dependence, the situation is less transparent.

References

- [1] W.-M. Yao et al., Review of Particle Physics, Journal of Physics G 33 (2006) 1.
- [2] S. Bethke, Experimental tests of asymptotic freedom, Prog. Part. Nucl. Phys. 58 (2007) 351–386, [hep-ex/0606035]. And talk presented at workshop on α_s and quark masses, Aachen, Germany, February 2007.
- [3] E. Braaten, S. Narison, and A. Pich, QCD analysis of the τ hadronic width, Nucl. Phys. B373 (1992) 581–612.
- [4] **CLEO** Collaboration, T. Coan *et al.*, Measurement of α_s from τ decays, Phys. Lett. **B356** (1995) 580–588.
- [5] **ALEPH** Collaboration, R. Barate *et al.*, Measurement of the spectral functions of axial-vector hadronic τ decays and determination of $\alpha_s(M_{\tau}^2)$, Eur. Phys. J. C4 (1998) 409–431.
- [6] OPAL Collaboration, K. Ackerstaff et al., Measurement of the strong coupling constant α_s and the vector and axialvector spectral functions in hadronic τ decays, Eur. Phys. J. C7 (1999) 571–593, [hep-ex/9808019].
- [7] ALEPH Collaboration, S. Schael et al., Branching ratios and spectral functions of τ decays: Final ALEPH measurements and physics implications, Phys. Rept. 421 (2005) 191–284, [hep-ex/0506072].
- [8] M. Davier, A. Höcker, and Z. Zhang, The physics of hadronic τ decays, Rev. Mod. Phys. 78 (2006) 1043–1109, [hep-ph/0507078].
- [9] M. Davier, S. Descotes-Genon, A. Höcker, B. Malaescu, and Z. Zhang, The determination of α_s from τ decays revisited, arXiv:0803.0979 [hep-ph].
- [10] E. Braaten, QCD predictions for the decay of the τ lepton, Phys. Rev. Lett. **60** (1988) 1606–1609.
- [11] S. Narison and A. Pich, QCD formulation of the τ decay and determination of $\Lambda_{\rm MS}$, Phys. Lett. B211 (1988) 183.
- [12] E. Braaten, The perturbative QCD corrections to the ratio R for τ decays, Phys. Rev. D39 (1989) 1458.
- [13] W. Marciano and A. Sirlin, *Electroweak radiative corrections to* τ *decay*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **61** (1988) 1815.
- [14] E. Braaten and C. S. Li, Electroweak radiative corrections to the semihadronic decay rate of the τ lepton, Phys. Rev. **D42** (1990) 3888–3891.

- [15] A. A. Pivovarov, Renormalization group analysis of the τ -lepton decay within QCD, Z. Phys. C53 (1992) 461–464, [hep-ph/0302003].
- [16] F. Le Diberder and A. Pich, The perturbative QCD prediction to R_{τ} revisited, Phys. Lett. **B286** (1992) 147–152.
- [17] P. Ball, M. Beneke, and V. M. Braun, Resummation of $(\beta_0 \alpha_s)^n$ corrections in QCD: Techniques and applications to the τ hadronic width and the heavy quark pole mass, Nucl. Phys. **B452** (1995) 563–625, [hep-ph/9502300].
- [18] P. A. Baikov, K. G. Chetyrkin, and J. H. Kühn, Hadronic Z- and τ -Decays in Order α_s^4 , Phys. Rev. Lett. 101 (2008) 012002, arXiv:0801.1821 [hep-ph].
- [19] M. Jamin, Contour-improved versus fixed-order perturbation theory in hadronic τ decays, JHEP 09 (2005) 058, [hep-ph/0509001].
- [20] M. Beneke, Renormalons, Phys. Rept. 317 (1999) 1-142, [hep-ph/9807443].
- [21] A. Pich and J. Prades, Perturbative quark mass corrections to the τ hadronic width, J. High Energy Phys. 06 (1998) 013, [hep-ph/9804462].
- [22] A. Pich and J. Prades, Strange quark mass determination from Cabibbo-suppressed τ decays, J. High Energy Phys. 10 (1999) 004, [hep-ph/9909244].
- [23] Y.-S. Tsai, Decay correlations of heavy leptons in $e^+e^- \rightarrow l^+l^-$, Phys. Rev. D4 (1971) 2821.
- [24] S. L. Adler, Some simple vacuum polarization phenomenology: $e^+e^- \rightarrow$ Hadrons, Phys. Rev. **D10** (1974) 3714.
- [25] E. C. Poggio, H. R. Quinn, and S. Weinberg, Smearing the quark model, Phys. Rev. D13 (1976) 1958.
- [26] S. G. Gorishnii, A. L. Kataev, and S. A. Larin, The $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ corrections to $\sigma_{\text{tot}}(e^+e^- \to \text{hadrons})$ and $\Gamma(\tau^- \to \nu_{\tau} + \text{hadrons})$ in QCD, Phys. Lett. **B259** (1991) 144–150.
- [27] L. R. Surguladze and M. A. Samuel, Total hadronic cross-section in e⁺e⁻ annihilation at the four-loop level of perturbative QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 66 (1991) 560–563.
- [28] W. A. Bardeen, A. J. Buras, D. W. Duke, and T. Muta, Deep inelastic scattering beyond the leading order in asymptotically free gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D18 (1978) 3998.
- [29] P. M. Stevenson, Optimized perturbation theory, Phys. Rev. D23 (1981) 2916.
- [30] M. R. Pennington, Renormalization-prescription ambiguity in perturbative quantum chromodynamics: Has Stevenson found the solution?, Phys. Rev. D26 (1982) 2048.
- [31] A. L. Kataev and V. V. Starshenko, Estimates of the higher order QCD corrections to R(s), R_τ and deep inelastic scattering sum rules, Mod. Phys. Lett. A10 (1995) 235–250, [hep-ph/9502348].
- [32] P. A. Baikov, K. G. Chetyrkin, and J. H. Kühn, Towards order α_s^4 accuracy in τ decays, *Phys. Rev.* D67 (2003) 074026, [hep-ph/0212299].
- [33] R. Dingle, Asymptotic Expansions: Their Derivation and Interpretation. Academic Press, 1973.
- [34] M. Beneke, Large order perturbation theory for a physical quantity, Nucl. Phys. B405 (1993) 424–450.

- [35] D. J. Broadhurst, Large-N expansion of QED: Asymptotic photon propagator and contributions to the muon anomaly, for any number of loops, Z. Phys. C58 (1993) 339–346.
- [36] M. Neubert, QCD analysis of hadronic τ decays revisited, Nucl. Phys. B463 (1996) 511–546, [hep-ph/9509432].
- [37] D. J. Broadhurst, A. L. Kataev, and C. J. Maxwell, Renormalons and multiloop estimates in scalar correlators, Higgs decay and quark-mass sum rule, Nucl. Phys. B592 (2001) 247–293, [hep-ph/0007152].
- [38] M. Beneke, Die Struktur der Störungsreihe in hohen Ordnungen, Ph.D. Thesis, Technische Universität München (1993).
- [39] A. H. Mueller, On the Structure of Infrared Renormalons in Physical Processes at High-Energies, Nucl. Phys. B250 (1985) 327.
- [40] M. Beneke and V. M. Braun, Renormalons and power corrections, hep-ph/0010208. Boris Ioffe Festschrift, At the Frontier of Particle Physics, Handbook of QCD, M.A. Shifman (ed.), World Scientific, Singapore, 2001.
- [41] M. Beneke, V. M. Braun, and N. Kivel, Large-order behaviour due to ultraviolet renormalons in QCD, Phys. Lett. B404 (1997) 315–320, [hep-ph/9703389].
- [42] K. G. Chetyrkin, V. P. Spiridonov, and S. G. Gorishnii, Wilson expansion for correlators of vector currents at the two-loop level: dimension four operators, Phys. Lett. B160 (1985) 149–153.
- [43] M. Beneke, Renormalization scheme invariant large order perturbation theory and infrared renormalons in QCD, Phys. Lett. B307 (1993) 154–160.
- [44] G. Cvetic, C. Dib, T. Lee, and I. Schmidt, Resummation of the hadronic τ decay width with modified Borel transform method, Phys. Rev. D64 (2001) 093016, [hep-ph/0106024].
- [45] T. Lee, Normalization constants of large order behavior, Phys. Lett. B462 (1999) 1–6, [hep-ph/9908225].
- [46] A. Pineda, Determination of the bottom quark mass from the Upsilon(1S) system, JHEP 06 (2001) 022, [hep-ph/0105008].
- [47] E. Gámiz, M. Jamin, A. Pich, J. Prades, and F. Schwab, Determination of m_s and |V_{us}| from hadronic τ decays, J. High Energy Phys. 01 (2003) 060, [hep-ph/0212230].
- [48] E. Gámiz, M. Jamin, A. Pich, J. Prades, and F. Schwab, V_{us} and m_s from hadronic τ decays, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **94** (2005) 011803, [hep-ph/0408044].
- [49] K. G. Chetyrkin and A. Kwiatkowski, Mass corrections to the τ decay rate, Z. Phys. C59 (1993) 525–532, [hep-ph/9805232].
- [50] P. A. Baikov, K. G. Chetyrkin, and J. H. Kühn, Strange quark mass from τ lepton decays with $\mathcal{O}(\alpha_s^3)$ accuracy, Phys. Rev. Lett. **95** (2005) 012003, [hep-ph/0412350].
- [51] M. Jamin, J. A. Oller, and A. Pich, Scalar $K\pi$ form factor and light quark masses, Phys. Rev. **D74** (2006) 074009, [hep-ph/0605095].
- [52] M. A. Shifman, A. I. Vainshtein, and V. I. Zakharov, QCD and resonance physics, Nucl. Phys. B147 (1979) 385, 448.
- [53] M. Gell-Mann, R. J. Oakes, and B. Renner, Behavior of current divergences under SU(3)×SU(3), Phys. Rev. 175 (1968) 2195–2199.

- [54] M. Jamin, Flavour-symmetry breaking of the quark condensate and chiral corrections to the Gell-Mann-Oakes-Renner relation, Phys. Lett. B538 (2002) 71–76, [hep-ph/0201174].
- [55] L. V. Lanin, V. P. Spiridonov, and K. G. Chetyrkin, Contribution of four-quark condensates to sum rules for ρ and A₁ mesons, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 44 (1986) 892.
- [56] L. E. Adam and K. G. Chetyrkin, Renormalization of four-quark operators and QCD sum rules, Phys. Lett. B329 (1994) 129–135, [hep-ph/9404331].
- [57] M. Jamin and M. Kremer, Anomalous dimensions of spin-0 four-quark operators without derivatives, Nucl. Phys. B277 (1986) 349.
- [58] S. Friot, D. Greynat, and E. de Rafael, Chiral condensates, Q₇ and Q₈ matrix elements and large-N_c QCD, JHEP 10 (2004) 043, [hep-ph/0408281].
- [59] I. I. Balitsky, M. Beneke, and V. M. Braun, Instanton contributions to the tau decay widths, Phys. Lett. B318 (1993) 371–381, [hep-ph/9309217].
- [60] M. A. Shifman, Quark-hadron duality, hep-ph/0009131. Boris Ioffe Festschrift, At the Frontier of Particle Physics, Handbook of QCD, M.A. Shifman (ed.), World Scientific, Singapore, 2001.
- [61] O. Cata, M. Golterman, and S. Peris, Unraveling duality violations in hadronic τ decays, Phys. Rev. **D77** (2008) 093006, [0803.0246].
- [62] I. S. Towner and J. C. Hardy, An improved calculation of the isospin-symmetry-breaking corrections to superallowed Fermi beta decay, Phys. Rev. C77 (2008) 025501, [0710.3181].
- [63] T. van Ritbergen, J. A. M. Vermaseren, and S. A. Larin, The four-loop beta function in quantum chromodynamics, Phys. Lett. B400 (1997) 379–384, [hep-ph/9701390].
- [64] M. Czakon, The four-loop QCD beta-function and anomalous dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B710 (2005) 485–498, [hep-ph/0411261].
- [65] K. G. Chetyrkin, B. A. Kniehl, and M. Steinhauser, Strong coupling constant with flavour thresholds at four loops in the MS scheme, Phys. Rev. Lett. 79 (1997) 2184–2187, [hep-ph/9706430].
- [66] K. G. Chetyrkin, J. H. Kühn, and M. Steinhauser, RunDec: A Mathematica package for running and decoupling of the strong coupling and quark masses, Comput. Phys. Commun. 133 (2000) 43–65, [hep-ph/0004189].
- [67] N. Brambilla et al., Heavy quarkonium physics, CERN Yellow Report 2005-005 (2005) [hep-ph/0412158].